

The Scottish Parliament Pàrlamaid na h-Alba

Official Report

MEETING OF THE PARLIAMENT

Thursday 5 November 2015



Thursday 5 November 2015

CONTENTS

A	Col.
GENERAL QUESTION TIME	
Leuchars Army Station	
United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child	
Support for Young People (Glasgow Maryhill and Springburn)	
Air Discount Scheme	
Responsible Driving (Central Scotland)	
National Health Service Staffing Shortages	
National Standards for Community Engagement	
Flood Prevention Measures (New Cumnock)	
Domestic Abuse (North-east Scotland)	
National Review of General Practitioner Out-of-hours Services	
FIRST MINISTER'S QUESTION TIME	
Engagements	
Secretary of State for Scotland (Meetings)	
Cabinet (Meetings)	
Scotland Bill (Amendments)	
Tax Credits (Assistance)	
Scottish Rate of Income Tax	
PROBLEM DEBT	22
Motion debated—[James Dornan].	00
James Dornan (Glasgow Cathcart) (SNP)	
Ken Macintosh (Eastwood) (Lab)	
Gavin Brown (Lothian) (Con)	
Sandra White (Glasgow Kelvin) (SNP)	28
The Minister for Business, Energy and Tourism (Fergus Ewing)	
CARERS (SCOTLAND) BILL: STAGE 1	33
Motion moved—[Jamie Hepburn].	20
The Minister for Sport, Health Improvement and Mental Health (Jamie Hepburn)	33
Duncan McNeil (Greenock and Inverciyde) (Lab)	
Rhoda Grant (Highlands and Islands) (Lab)	
Nanette Milne (North East Scotland) (Con)	
Graeme Dey (Angus South) (SNP)	
Johann Lamont (Glasgow Pollok) (Lab)	
Linda Fabiani (East Kilbride) (SNP)	
Jim Hume (South Scotland) (LD)Sandra White (Glasgow Kelvin) (SNP)	
Jackie Baillie (Dumbarton) (Lab)	
Bob Doris (Glasgow) (SNP)	
Jayne Baxter (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Lab)	
Willie Coffey (Kilmarnock and Irvine Valley) (SNP)	
Joan McAlpine (South Scotland) (SNP)	
Dr Richard Simpson (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Lab)	
Richard Lyle (Central Scotland) (SNP)	
Jackson Carlaw (West Scotland) (Con)	
Neil Findlay (Lothian) (Lab)	
Jamie Hepburn	
Carers (Scotland) Bill: Financial Resolution	
Motion moved—[Jamie Hepburn].	00
Parliamentary Bureau Motions	07
Motions moved—[Joe FitzPatrick].	
DECISION TIME	ΩΩ
CORRECTION	
VVINLVIIVII	

Scottish Parliament

Thursday 5 November 2015

[The Presiding Officer opened the meeting at 11:40]

General Question Time

The Presiding Officer (Tricia Marwick): Good morning. The first item of business is general question time.

Leuchars Army Station

1. Roderick Campbell (North East Fife) (SNP): To ask the Scottish Government what discussions it has had with the United Kingdom Government regarding the future use of Leuchars army station. (S4O-04748)

The Cabinet Secretary for Infrastructure, Investment and Cities (Keith Brown): Throughout recent basing changes, Scottish ministers have repeatedly pressed UK ministers at the Ministry of Defence to offer support to communities that are affected by UK ministers' decisions. The Minister for Business, Energy and Tourism recently pressed the case of businesses that continue to be affected by changes at Leuchars.

The UK Government has not engaged us in any discussion on the future use of the Leuchars army station. I have repeatedly requested meetings with the Secretary of State for Defence, including meetings about the UK Government's strategic defence and security review but, again, I have not yet been afforded such opportunities. Despite that, I intend to meet other ministers who are involved in the SDSR in the coming weeks.

Roderick Campbell: Does the cabinet secretary agree that the runway at Leuchars is a valuable asset and that the return of maritime patrol aircraft to that part of Scotland, which has been speculated about in the press, would not only enhance security but benefit the local economy, sections of which continue to struggle following the Royal Air Force's departure and the Army's delayed arrival?

Keith Brown: I welcome the fact that the runway at Leuchars has been maintained despite the end to routine RAF operations there. Members will clearly recall the widespread changes that were caused by the previous strategic defence and security review and the upset and upheaval that it created for communities, including those at Leuchars, Kinloss and many other locations around Scotland. They will also recall the efforts—led by the Scottish Government, but with a

remarkable degree of cross-party consensus—to protect the military footprint in Scotland against a backdrop of disproportionate decline over many years.

Our ambition remains to see the conventional military footprint in Scotland protected and enhanced. In our view, the UK Government has repeatedly made poor defence decisions for Scotland, which have left major capability gaps. We therefore strongly support locating any new maritime patrol aircraft capability in Scotland and I will continue to press for engagement with the Secretary of State for Defence. With the onset of the new SDSR, I will seek to discuss that issue with him, among other issues.

United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child

2. Richard Lyle (Central Scotland) (SNP): To ask the Scottish Government what its position is on enshrining the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child in Scots law. (S4O-04749)

The Minister for Children and Young People (Aileen Campbell): Scottish ministers have an established record on promoting and safeguarding children's rights. Our Children and Young People (Scotland) Act 2014 places specific duties on all ministers to consider steps that can better give effect to the UNCRC and to promote public awareness and understanding of children's rights. Those provisions take us further than any previous Scottish Government has gone. We remain committed to enhancing children's rights in all aspects of Scottish life and we look for opportunities to apply the principles of the convention on an issue-by-issue basis where we consider it right and proper to do so.

Richard Lyle: I know that we are all committed to protecting the realisation of the rights of children and young people in Scotland. What role does the Scotlish Government believe that organisations that promote engagement with and the participation of children and young people have, working in a rights-based context, in helping to further realise these important rights?

Aileen Campbell: I recognise Richard Lyle's commitment to the UNCRC. Our ambition to make rights real for children and young people across Scotland can be achieved only by working in partnership. Organisations that promote children and young people's engagement and participation have a crucial role to play in that, which is why we fund organisations such as the Scottish Youth Parliament, Young Scot and the Children's Parliament to help us to hear young people's views as we develop our policy.

Support for Young People (Glasgow Maryhill and Springburn)

3. Patricia Ferguson (Glasgow Maryhill and Springburn) (Lab): To ask the Scottish Government what support it provides to young people in Glasgow Maryhill and Springburn. (S4O-04750)

The Cabinet Secretary for Education and Lifelong Learning (Angela Constance): Drawing on regional funding of £105 million, Glasgow Kelvin College is delivering a range of courses for some 16,000 students from across north-east Glasgow and beyond. The college has also provided 20 vocational programmes for senior-phase pupils from local communities, including its successful engineering scholarship programme and targeted courses for some of the most vulnerable young people from the Maryhill and Springburn communities.

We awarded Glasgow City Council funding of approximately £18.4 million through the Scotland's schools for the future programme. That includes £4.2 million for the new Garrowhill primary school, which opened to pupils in January 2015, and £6.1 million for phase 1 of the Clyde campus, which is expected to open in spring 2017.

Patricia Ferguson: Glasgow Kelvin College, like many other colleges in Glasgow, has had its number of student places slashed in recent years. The Scottish Government's decision to slash bursaries by 36 per cent will have a disproportionate effect on the ability of young people in constituencies such as mine to make their way successfully through university and college.

Scottish Labour has pledged to increase the top rate of taxation to provide a fair start fund that will help those young people. What will the Scottish Government do?

Angela Constance: I am pleased to report that, as Ms Ferguson knows, the Scottish Government has met its manifesto commitment to exceed 116,000 full-time equivalent college places. I am also pleased to report that, over our term of office, student support funds for Glasgow Kelvin College have gone up by 17 per cent. [Angela Constance has corrected this contribution. See end of report.]

In due course, John Swinney will lay out the Government's spending plans, including our plans for taxation, as is entirely appropriate. The Parliament will be the first to know those plans.

Air Discount Scheme

4. Mike MacKenzie (Highlands and Islands) (SNP): To ask the Scottish Government what feedback it has received following its decision to

increase the air discount scheme from 40 per cent to 50 per cent. (S4O-04751)

The Minister for Transport and Islands (Derek Mackay): Our decision to increase from 40 to 50 per cent the discount that is available under the scheme has been welcomed by the communities that benefit from the scheme, as well as their local representatives. We have also invited local authorities to produce a costed and legally compliant business case for the inclusion of business travel in the scheme, for further consideration.

Mike MacKenzie: Will the minister comment on any further measures that he is taking or is able to take to improve the fortunes of Scotland's islands?

Derek Mackay: There is now a record of sustained investment and good news for Scotland's islands. That includes the ferry fare freeze, the investment in new ferries—the procurement of which is returning commercial shipbuilding to the Clyde—and the increase in subsidy to support travel to Scotland's islands and other remote areas. All those measures have been welcomed, and the work of the island areas ministerial working group continues to produce an action plan that will outline a range of actions to support island living.

There has been a view that we should go further on the air discount scheme and we have been accused of having reduced the budget. However, the budget was £5.6 million in 2007-08 and the projected budget for 2016-17 is £8.6 million, which shows increased support for and sustained investment in a scheme that is well worth while for the islands and is fully appreciated.

Responsible Driving (Central Scotland)

5. Clare Adamson (Central Scotland) (SNP): To ask the Scotlish Government what it is doing in Central Scotland to promote responsible driving. (S4O-04752)

The Minister for Transport and Islands (Derek Mackay): The Scottish Government is clear that all motorists should drive responsibly and is committed to improving road safety in all of Scotland. To achieve that, we are working with road safety partners on a range of educational, enforcement and engineering measures that are relevant to Central Scotland and to Scotland more generally.

Clare Adamson: The Government will be aware of the recent publication of Driver and Vehicle Licensing Agency postcode motoring conviction rates, which show that the highest conviction rates in Scotland are in Central Scotland and particularly in some ML postcode areas. Although that is only one part of a complex jigsaw, does it cause the Government concern?

How can conviction rates be reduced in those areas?

Derek Mackay: The Scottish Government is resolute that all drivers should act responsibly and within the law. That is why we are to take comprehensive action to deter risk-taking behaviour and offending. Through a range of high-profile publicity campaigns that promote safe and legal driving and through road safety education resources that are linked to the curriculum for excellence for children aged from three to 18, we are helping to foster responsible habits on the roads that will last a lifetime. That work is taking place across the country, but I am happy to look at regional and local variations.

National Health Service Staffing Shortages

6. John Pentland (Motherwell and Wishaw) (Lab): To ask the Scottish Government what contingencies are in place to address NHS staffing shortages during winter. (S4O-04753)

The Cabinet Secretary for Health, Wellbeing and Sport (Shona Robison): All NHS boards have in place agreed and robust winter plans that include details of workforce and logistical plans to deal with the increases in demand that are commonly seen over the winter period.

NHS Lanarkshire's winter plan indicates that it has invested £1.2 million in acute care in the past year. That funding will help to provide additional capacity across the board, including an 18-bed ward in Monklands hospital that will be staffed by consultant locums. The funding will also support the surge capacity to open a further 16 beds in Monklands hospital, including beds for patients from the Wishaw catchment if required. Enhanced ambulatory care will be provided across all acute sites, with emergency department advanced nurse practitioners available to support medical staffing.

John Pentland: In Lanarkshire, the vacancy rates are often higher than and sometimes double the national average. Nearly 11 per cent of the consultant posts in Lanarkshire are unfilled, with 6.5 per cent having been unfilled for six months or more, and the figure is higher in acute and emergency medicine. That is why plans exist to address a critical shortfall by redirecting 999-call patients and moving staff to other emergency departments.

Lanarkshire also has a shortfall in community nursing, with 73 vacancies—a quarter of the Scottish total. Does the cabinet secretary agree that that will exacerbate the problems in the acute sector by delaying the discharge of patients and increasing the number of readmissions? With the winter set to add to those staffing pressures, what is the cabinet secretary doing to address the shortage of community nurses?

Shona Robison: John Pentland asks several questions and I will try to deal with them in order.

We have a clear focus on tackling delayed discharge and, in preparation for winter, making sure that everything is done to ensure that patients who should not be in hospital are discharged on time. That requires the partnerships between North Lanarkshire Council and South Lanarkshire Council and NHS Lanarkshire to be working well, so I am keeping a close eye on that partnership working.

NHS Lanarkshire staffing overall has gone up by almost 12.7 per cent. There has been an increase in the number of accident and emergency consultants, and the number of staff working in NHS Lanarkshire overall has increased by nearly 13 per cent under this Government. Although there are challenges—I accept that—there are more staff than ever before.

For winter, however, we need to ensure that the plans are robust and give the public reassurance that their local services—not just in health, but in social care—are robust enough to deal with the winter pressures. I am happy to write to John Pentland with a bit more of the detail.

National Standards for Community Engagement

7. Jayne Baxter (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Lab): To ask the Scottish Government whether it will provide an update on the review of the national standards for community engagement. (S4O-04754)

The Minister for Local Government and Community Empowerment (Marco Biagi): Good progress is being made by the Scottish Community Development Centre and the what works Scotland initiative in the review of the national standards for community engagement. Following extensive consultation since June 2015, we expect that live testing of the new standards will start at the end of this year and that a fully revised and refreshed set of national standards for community engagement will be launched in summer 2016.

Jayne Baxter: Does the minister agree that the national standards for community engagement are important as we increasingly look to involve communities in the design, delivery and review of services, whether at a local or a national level?

Marco Biagi: Yes, I whole-heartedly agree. That was the impetus behind the Community Empowerment (Scotland) Act 2015. We intend to use the powers in that act to embed the national standards, once they have been refreshed and the relevant parts of the act have been commenced. I welcome the cross-party support that continues to exist for that agenda.

Malcolm Chisholm (Edinburgh Northern and Leith) (Lab): Good as the original standards were, does the minister agree that strengthened community engagement standards are essential for the Community Empowerment (Scotland) Act 2015? Can he tell us not just the publication date of the revised standards but the commencement date of the 2015 act and the guidance that is necessary for its commencement to take place?

Marco Biagi: As the act is about working in partnership, we have been working in partnership with the interested organisations so that the standards can be genuinely co-produced. The expected commencement date of the relevant provisions is the summer of next year, by which time guidance will have been developed, the national standards will have been refreshed and we will be able to go live with a series of improvements in those areas. I hope that the member will welcome that progress when it comes.

Flood Prevention Measures (New Cumnock)

8. Graeme Pearson (South Scotland) (Lab): To ask the Scotlish Government, in light of the flooding incidents in the area in the last two winters, what its position is on the flood prevention measures in New Cumnock. (S4O-04755)

The Minister for Environment, Climate Change and Land Reform (Aileen McLeod): We continue to implement the Flood Risk Management (Scotland) Act 2009, which will help responsible local authorities to work to reduce flood risk across Scotland. As part of that process, on 22 December the Scotlish Environment Protection Agency will publish its first ever flood risk management strategies.

Graeme Pearson: Constituents who live in the area, particularly at Connel bridge and the Leggate, have had two miserable winters as a result of flooding. Will the minister take steps to assure herself that all has been done that it is physically possible to do to provide a happier winter for the people who live in the area?

Aileen McLeod: I know that Graeme Pearson has taken a particular interest in the flooding problems that have affected New Cumnock and has organised a series of public meetings to bring the community together with representatives of SEPA, East Ayrshire Council and Scotland TranServ to discuss potential solutions. As the member knows, flood protection schemes are primarily a matter for local authorities. I understand that East Ayrshire Council has been developing plans for a large-scale flood protection scheme for New Cumnock, which will be included in the Ayrshire flood risk management strategy.

I also understand that East Ayrshire Council has provided property-level protection to all houses that were affected by the events of December 2013 and that the council allocated £600,000 in December 2014 to design and construct flood protection works for the Leggate area of New Cumnock, which are programmed to be completed by the summer of 2016. To reassure the member, New Cumnock is also very much part and parcel of the national flood risk management planning process and will be considered accordingly.

Domestic Abuse (North-east Scotland)

9. Stewart Stevenson (Banffshire and Buchan Coast) (SNP): To ask the Scottish Government what is being done to address domestic abuse incidents in the north-east. (S40-04756)

The Cabinet Secretary for Justice (Michael Matheson): The Scottish Government is working closely with our partners in the statutory and third sector to address domestic abuse in the north-east and throughout Scotland. We are investing more than £700,000 in services throughout the northeast to support women and children who have experienced or are at risk of domestic abuse.

Nationally, the First Minister announced an additional £20 million from justice to invest in a range of measures to strengthen our efforts to tackle all forms of violence against women and girls and to better support victims of violence and sexual assault.

Furthermore, we have introduced to Parliament the Abusive Behaviour and Sexual Harm (Scotland) Bill, which, along with our planned consultation on a specific offence of domestic abuse, will seek to strengthen the law in this area.

Stewart Stevenson: I very much welcome the £700,000 that the minister has made us aware is available in the north-east. However, given that, nationally, almost half of incidents reported do not result in a conviction, can more be done beyond what is currently planned to help lead to more successful prosecutions?

Michael Matheson: The Scottish Government is absolutely clear that there is no excuse for domestic abuse and is absolutely committed to doing everything that it can to tackle the issue. Our partners in Police Scotland and the Crown Office have taken forward a range of work in this area. Police Scotland has established a national domestic abuse task force to tackle the most prolific perpetrators. The Crown Office has a dedicated national prosecutor for domestic abuse and has introduced a consistent and robust approach to the prosecution of domestic abuse. For example, in 2013-14, court action was taken

by prosecutors in 85 per cent of domestic abuse cases that were reported by the police.

National Review of General Practitioner Out-ofhours Services

10. Linda Fabiani (East Kilbride) (SNP): To ask the Scottish Government when it expects to receive the results of the national review of GP out-of-hours services. (S4O-04757)

The Cabinet Secretary for Health, Wellbeing and Sport (Shona Robison): In February of this year, I commissioned Professor Sir Lewis Ritchie to chair a national review of primary care out-of-hours services. He will present his final report of findings and recommendations to me early this month.

Linda Fabiani: I remind the cabinet secretary of the disappointment in my constituency of East Kilbride about the out-of-hours service being taken away on an interim basis by NHS Lanarkshire. She is aware that NHS Lanarkshire has pledged to review that situation, following the result of the national review. Can she assure me that the criteria used for public consultation will be meaningful so that all voices can be heard in that local review?

Shona Robison: Yes, I assure Linda Fabiani on all those points. As is right, NHS Lanarkshire has said that it will review the interim arrangements in the light of Professor Sir Lewis Ritchie's findings and recommendations, and I will ensure that that happens.

The point about local engagement is a good one. That should also happen.

First Minister's Question Time

12:00

Engagements

1. Kezia Dugdale (Lothian) (Lab): To ask the First Minister what engagements she has planned for the rest of the day. (S4F-03031)

The First Minister (Nicola Sturgeon): This morning, I convened a meeting of the Scottish Government's resilience committee to discuss the on-going suspension of flights to and from Sharm el Sheikh in Egypt. My officials are in close contact with United Kingdom Government officials and will continue to be so. We understand that there are currently around 20,000 British nationals in Sharm el Sheikh and we estimate at this stage that at least several hundred of them are Scots. Transport Scotland is in touch with Thomson Holidays to discuss the support and advice that are being provided. I assure the chamber that the Scottish Government will continue to liaise closely with UK Government colleagues to ensure that all appropriate support is in place.

Later today, I will have engagements to take forward the Government's programme for Scotland.

Kezia Dugdale: Across the UK, Labour will fight the Tory Government's attempts to cut tax credits. We want George Osborne to scrap his plan altogether but, if he does not, the Scottish Parliament must act to protect working families.

Despite days of protesting that it was not possible, yesterday the Scottish National Party Government finally admitted that we will have the power to restore money lost through tax credit cuts. The Cabinet Secretary for Social Justice, Communities and Pensioners' Rights said that measures would be outlined after the autumn statement but, unlike on its £250 million plan to abolish air passenger duty, we have no detail on how much the SNP is willing to spend to protect working families. In fact, for weeks, the Deputy First Minister and Cabinet Secretary for Finance. Constitution and Economy said that restoring tax credits was unaffordable. Does the First Minister agree with her finance secretary that spending hundreds of millions of pounds to make airline tickets cheaper is affordable but restoring tax credits is not?

The First Minister: Let me set out the Scottish Government's position. First, over the next three weeks, we intend to keep up the pressure on George Osborne to drop his plans for tax credit cuts. Unlike Labour, which, members should remember, initially abstained in the House of Commons on the issue, the SNP has consistently

opposed the cuts. It is all too typical of Scottish Labour that, just when the pressure on George Osborne is building across the UK, the party eases up on the Tories and attacks the SNP instead. It seems that old habits and old friendships die hard.

We will keep up the pressure on the Tories to drop the cuts altogether and, if they do not completely reverse them, we, as a responsible Government, will introduce credible, deliverable and affordable plans to protect low-income households, just as we did on the bedroom tax. [Interruption.]

The Presiding Officer (Tricia Marwick): Order.

The First Minister: As we remember, first of all on the bedroom tax, Labour brought forward a plan that would have been illegal and unworkable; the Government brought forward one that worked. To be frank, that is a far better plan and it is far fairer for people who are affected by the cuts than back-of-a-fag-packet proposals from a party that knows that it has little chance of ever being in a position to implement them.

Kezia Dugdale: The First Minister forgets that a Labour Government introduced tax credits. We will do everything that we can to protect them, including using the powers of this Parliament.

No matter what George Osborne does at the autumn statement, we in Scottish Labour are committed to restoring the money that is lost through tax credit cuts for working families because we have made a choice. We know that it is affordable. We have costed it at its most expensive and we know that any concessions from the chancellor will only reduce that cost. We think that it is more important than a multimillion-pound plan to reduce the cost of airline tickets. [Interruption.]

The Presiding Officer: Order. Continue, Ms Dugdale. [*Interruption*.] Order. Let us hear Ms Dugdale.

Kezia Dugdale: There are 6,000 families in the First Minister's constituency who rely on tax credits and they deserve a bit more than a vague assurance from the Scottish National Party that the Government will act. Can the First Minister confirm to those 6,000 families and the thousands more across the country that the Scottish Government's proposals will ensure that, when the new powers are available, every family will receive the same entitlement from the Government as they do now—yes or no?

The First Minister: Let me repeat what I said in my first answer: we will continue to oppose the proposed cuts at source, unlike Labour, which abstained when it came to a vote in the House of Commons on tax credit cuts. We will oppose the

cuts, but if they go ahead, we will bring forward a credible, workable, deliverable and affordable plan—

Neil Findlay (Lothian) (Lab): Yes or no?

The Presiding Officer: Order, Mr Findlay.

The First Minister: —to protect low-income households.

I say to Kezia Dugdale that the detail of this matters to the families out there who are affected. One of the details that matter most is how the tax credits policy would be paid for. Kezia Dugdale has mentioned air passenger duty as the source—or a source—of the funding for it.

For today's purposes, let us put to one side the fact that that money would not be available when Kezia Dugdale was required to pay for the tax credits policy and consider what she had to say about air passenger duty the day before she announced that policy. In an interview in *Holyrood* magazine the day before she announced her position on tax credits, she said that Labour would scrap the air passenger duty measure and spend that money on education, so in the space of 24 hours Labour managed to spend the same sum of money twice over. I say in all seriousness to Kezia Dugdale that that is basic incompetence and, frankly, the people of Scotland deserve better.

We have known for some time that the public think that Labour is unelectable. What we have found out this week is that Labour thinks that Labour is unelectable. It is less Keir Hardie, more Laurel and Hardy.

The Presiding Officer: Ms Dugdale, will you try to keep your question brief? First Minister, will you try to keep your next answer brief, too?

Kezia Dugdale: All that from a party that has had three different positions on tax credits in the past 24 hours. If the past few days have taught us anything, it is that this Government needs to be held to account.

Yesterday in the House of Commons, the Prime Minister told working families that they would just have to wait and see what happened next. Today in this chamber, the First Minister is saying exactly the same thing. I have listened to Nicola Sturgeon very carefully, and I listened very carefully to Alex Neil on the television last night. Both of them have said that they will ensure that the income of those who are in receipt of tax credits does not fall, but that sounds a little like the Tory argument that higher wages will automatically make up the difference.

Therefore, I again ask the First Minister whether, under the Scottish Government's proposal, every family will receive the same entitlement from the Government as they do now.

The First Minister: I am not quite sure what it is that is difficult to understand. I do not yet accept that the proposed cuts will take place, because pressure is building on George Osborne to reverse them, so I think that, right now, we should be united in making sure that the pressure stays on the Tories. If George Osborne does the wrong thing, we will come forward with credible proposals to protect low-income families. People around this country who are worried about their tax credits deserve more than slogans. [Interruption.]

The Presiding Officer: Order.

The First Minister: They deserve detail from a Government that they know can deliver.

Earlier on, I referred to Kezia Dugdale's interview in *Holyrood* magazine. Something else in that interview was illuminating. She narrated a conversation with a Welsh minister in which she had asked him,

"where are you finding the money from for these ... big commitments?"

and he had said that

"they would worry about that later."

Kezia said:

"I was quite impressed by ... the boldness ... of that".

Most people would be utterly appalled by the incompetence of that. I will leave Labour in the lala land that it increasingly inhabits and get on with the job of governing the country in the interests of the people we serve.

The Presiding Officer: Briefly, Ms Dugdale.

Kezia Dugdale: The truth is that this is the week in which the SNP's constitutional games came unstuck. After years of responding to every problem with complaints about the constitution, Alex Neil finally gave the game away. This is the week in which the SNP had to admit that the new powers that are heading our way can transform Scotland and had to confront the fact that difficult choices will have to be made. Will the First Minister now give up the politics of grievance? Will she now look to the future of what is possible, move on from the past and just get on with delivering a fairer Scotland?

The First Minister: There is one place only in the UK where Labour can be judged on its actions, not its words. In Wales, which I referred to a moment ago, Labour does not even mitigate the bedroom tax. That is the reality of Labour in government.

I will continue to concentrate first on forcing the Tories to abandon the cuts. The reason why Labour will not do likewise is that, in the words of its shadow chancellor last weekend, the SNP is "the real enemy". That is the nub of the matter.

Labour is not motivated by concern for ordinary people, and it has not been for a long time. [Interruption.]

The Presiding Officer: Order.

The First Minister: Labour is motivated by its tribal hatred of the SNP. I think that the Tories are the enemy of working people in Scotland. It is just a shame that Labour seems to have forgotten that.

Secretary of State for Scotland (Meetings)

2. Ruth Davidson (Glasgow) (Con): To ask the First Minister when she will next meet the Secretary of State for Scotland. (S4F-03027)

The First Minister (Nicola Sturgeon): No plans in the near future.

Ruth Davidson: Earlier this week, a leading group of education experts, led by Keir Bloomer, who is a former director of education, questioned the Government's plans to help pupils from poorer backgrounds. Its report concluded that it was

"not persuaded that the strategies ... that will be needed for success are yet in place."

We all want more poorer pupils to be able to get the grades to go to good universities. That expert group says that the plans that the Scottish National Party is putting in place simply will not do that. Why are those experts wrong?

The First Minister: I hope that Kezia Dugdale—Ruth Davidson, rather; I struggle to tell between them these days. I hope that Ruth Davidson accepts, even if she does not agree with my policy, that I have made it very clear how serious I am about improving education in Scotland and closing the attainment gap. I read with interest the report that she referred to. I do not agree with every aspect of it, but I thought that it was an interesting contribution. I will meet its author, Keir Bloomer, next week to discuss it and how he and the other members of his team can contribute to Scottish Government thinking on the issue.

We are serious about the matter. That is why we already have more than 300 primary schools across the country benefiting from the additional resources of the attainment fund and why work is continuing apace on the national improvement framework, which will, among other things, give us for the first time in primary schools the chance to measure reliably improvement in our education and the closing of the attainment gap.

We are seeing evidence of the attainment gap in Scotland closing. That is not far enough or fast enough for my liking, which is why I am determined that we go further and faster. I have said to Ruth Davidson before and I say to everybody across the chamber that I am open to suggestions, and I always have been. I do not

think that I have had any suggestions from anywhere across the chamber, but there is no doubt whatsoever that education is a priority for me and my Government, and it will continue to be so.

Ruth Davidson: I thank the First Minister for that answer, telling the Parliament how seriously she now takes the attainment gap. She did not, however, provide the full facts. Under freedom of information, we have obtained the latest figures on the number of students getting three As at higher, which is one of the measures for getting into a good university. It is not pretty reading.

We knew that the Scottish National Party Government was not closing the attainment gap. Now, from these figures, we know that the gap between the richest and poorest students is actually getting wider. In fact, in four local authorities, not a single pupil from the least affluent homes attained three As in their highers, whereas a wealthier pupil is now seven times more likely to get three As than their more deprived peers. We will publish all those figures this afternoon.

The First Minister has said that she wants to be judged on her record. In education, her record is one of failure, and the experts say that her plans will not fix it. I ask her: how bad do things have to get before we see the action that we need?

The First Minister: As Ruth Davidson knows, we are taking action, and we will continue to take action. I am not standing here saying that there is not more work to do—and I never have stood here and said that. That is why we have taken the action around the attainment challenge that I have already talked about.

In many respects, we are seeing evidence of the attainment gap narrowing. In 2007, for example, 23 per cent of pupils from the 20 per cent most deprived areas got at least one higher. That figure is now 40 per cent. For qualifications at level 5, the gap between the 10 per cent most deprived and the 10 per cent least deprived has fallen from 42.5 per cent to 26 per cent. Those figures evidence some progress, but that progress is not enough for me, and I would not expect it to be enough for anyone. That is why we are putting so much emphasis on the attainment work.

Ruth Davidson can cite higher results and I can cite higher results. As I have said before, one of the problems that we have is that we cannot cite such evidence from earlier in a child's school progress. If the attainment gap has not been dealt with by the time we get to higher, perhaps it is too late to do so. That is why the national improvement framework is so important—so that we can start dealing with the issue not even in primary school but in early years and through

primary school, so that improvements take place later on in school careers. That is the emphasis that we are putting on that work, and I would hope that Ruth Davidson would welcome that.

Willie Coffey (Kilmarnock and Irvine Valley) (SNP): The First Minister will be aware of the announcement by the Stuttgart-based engineering firm Mahle that more than 170 jobs are to be lost in the bearings finishing department of the business in Kilmarnock by January next year and that the company plans to move that production to other plants in Europe, despite the renowned quality of the bearings that have been produced by the Kilmarnock staff over many years and the solid performance of the company worldwide. Will the First Minister see what intervention with the company might be possible to try to save those jobs and to help prevent yet another jobs body blow to the town?

The First Minister: I welcome Willie Coffey's question. I share his concern at the announcement of possible redundancies at the Mahle group works in Kilmarnock. I am sure that this is a very worrying time for all affected employees.

I confirm that Scottish Enterprise has offered support to the company and will meet senior management next week to discuss it. I can also confirm that a partnership action for continuing employment team will meet representatives of the company next week to discuss a tailored programme of PACE support for any employees who may be facing redundancy.

The Scottish Government will take any action that we possibly can, and I know that the Minister for Business, Energy and Tourism would be very happy to discuss the matter in more detail with Willie Coffey.

Cabinet (Meetings)

3. Willie Rennie (Mid Scotland and Fife) (LD): To ask the First Minister what issues will be discussed at the next meeting of the Cabinet. (S4F-03025)

The First Minister (Nicola Sturgeon): Matters of importance to the people of Scotland.

Willie Rennie: This week the Cabinet Secretary for Education and Lifelong Learning had an online question and answer session. Not one person agreed with Angela Constance about the national standardised testing, and the international experts of the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development warn that the risk of national testing is

"narrowing the curriculum and teaching to the test."

One of the issues is league tables. The First Minister told me that she was against league tables, but she has told journalists that she will not

stop them putting primary schools into league tables. If she does not want them, why is she going ahead and taking all the steps to allow them to happen?

The First Minister: It may have escaped Willie Rennie's notice, but I do not control the newspapers. Perhaps if I did, things would be very different.

There is something quite reassuring for me here. On the one hand, I have Ruth Davidson telling me that I am not going far enough regarding school reform. On the other hand, I have Willie Rennie telling me that I am going far too far on school reform. That tells me that we are probably in exactly the right place in terms of reforming our schools, how we measure their performance and the attainment gap.

I stand by what I said. I have no interest in crude league tables that offer no meaning to parents; nor do I have any interest in a system that would encourage teaching to the test. It is incumbent on me as First Minister to make sure that children's progress is being assessed in a way that better informs the judgments teachers make about their performance and that also allows all of us to have a meaningful and evidenced debate in this chamber and across Scotland about whether we are or are not making progress in closing the attainment gap. I think that that is absolutely the right thing to do.

We will continue to discuss the detail of our plans with teachers, local authorities, parents and others, but I am determined—as I said to Ruth Davidson—that we make real progress and I will push forward for that reason.

Willie Rennie: So league tables are coming and the First Minister has not convinced one single person that she is going to stop them. The OECD says that

"Of equal importance is consensus-building among the various stakeholders involved",

but Professor Brian Boyd, who was a member of the curriculum review group, said that it was "a retrograde step". Headteacher George Gilchrist said that it is "a definite step backwards". The Educational Institute of Scotland said that testing would have a "profoundly negative impact". The Scottish Parent Teacher Council concluded that testing does not raise attainment. Why is the Government's approach to consensus-building just to tell all those people that they are wrong?

The First Minister: It is not, although I will tell Willie Rennie that he is wrong. We are not introducing high-stakes testing; we are introducing assessment—assessment that is carried out in most local authorities anyway—in a standardised way so that we can use it appropriately. It is

assessment that will help to inform teachers' judgments about the performance of children.

We will continue to work—as we are doing right now with teachers and with others—to finalise how we will make use of that information and how we will publish that information in a way that does not lead to crude league tables. That is the way that we will continue to get on with it.

Willie Rennie has twice mentioned the OECD. We should in the not-too-distant future get the OECD's latest report on the performance of Scottish education. I look forward to receiving that; I hope that it will be a useful contribution to our ongoing work in the area. It is an area that, as I have said repeatedly and will continue to say, I have set as a priority, and I am going to continue treat it in that way.

Scotland Bill (Amendments)

4. Kevin Stewart (Aberdeen Central) (SNP): To ask the First Minister what the Scottish Government's position is on how the United Kingdom Government's latest amendments to the Scotland Bill could impact on the governance of Scotland. (S4F-03029)

The First Minister (Nicola Sturgeon): It has been quite interesting this week, has it not, that a bill that it was claimed would deliver the vow in full when it was first introduced needed so many amendments to make it supposedly deliver the vow now. I think that the amendments will improve the bill in some key areas—in particular, the late amendment that was tabled yesterday by the United Kingdom Government—but the bill still falls far, far short in other areas.

On whether the bill delivers on the promises that were made, it will of course be for the people to judge that in the election next May. Scottish National Party MPs will propose further amendments in the House of Commons next week, including one that would deliver real power over tax credits in their entirety, and we call on all members to support those amendments.

More generally, our priority now is to agree a fair fiscal framework so that we can get on with using the new powers for the benefit of the people whom we serve.

Kevin Stewart: The Scotland Bill goes nowhere near to delivering on the Smith commission proposals, never mind to fulfilling the vow. Does the First Minister share the view of a number of third sector organisations that the proposed devolution of the work programme while Westminster will retain power over sanctions is incoherent and illogical, as are so many proposals in the bill?

The First Minister: Yes, I do. Benefit conditionality and employability go hand in hand, as anyone knows, and they should have been fully devolved to the Scottish Parliament. Kevin Stewart is right to point out that many stakeholders have called for that. The issue is symptomatic of the approach that the United Kingdom Government has taken.

The employment provisions in the bill fall short of the Smith recommendations. In my view there is no justification for insisting that we wait 12 months before we step in to help someone who is unemployed. The social security provisions in the bill, notwithstanding welcome improvements, are still full of qualifications and constraints including—perhaps most important—constraints on benefits sanctions.

The sanctions regime has been shown to push people into crisis and is one of the main drivers of use of food banks, which is why we have been clear in saying that there is an urgent need for a full and independent review of the whole sanctions system.

Annabel Goldie (West Scotland) (Con): In yesterday's welfare debate in this Parliament, we saw the shambles of the SNP and the First Minister's colleague Mr Neil referring to the Scotland Bill and confirming his desire to reverse tax credits cuts by saying:

"The amendments that were tabled today should give the Scottish Parliament that power"—[Official Report, 4 November 2015; c 26.]

only to subsequently move an amendment in his name that said the exact opposite.

Does the First Minister agree that her Government needs to move on, stop caterwauling at Westminster, and start telling us how her Government will actually use the extensive new powers?

The First Minister: I have to say that I give Baroness Goldie 10 out of 10 for sheer brass neck. I remind Parliament and, more important, the whole of Scotland, that Baroness Goldie sat in the House of Lords a couple of weeks ago and voted for tax credits cuts that will penalise low-income families. It will be a long time before I am prepared to take any lectures on tax credits in this chamber from Baroness Goldie.

Tax Credits (Assistance)

5. Jackie Baillie (Dumbarton) (Lab): To ask the First Minister whether the Scottish Government will provide assistance to families who lose tax credits as a result of the United Kingdom Government's proposals. (S4F-03036)

The First Minister (Nicola Sturgeon): As I said earlier, we intend to keep up pressure on the

Chancellor of the Exchequer to drop his plans to cut tax credits. If he does not do so, we will bring forward credible and deliverable plans to assist low-income families. That is in line with the approach that we have already taken to mitigate welfare cuts, including the bedroom tax. This year alone, that approach is backed by more than £100 million of investment.

Jackie Baillie: I say as gently as I can to the First Minister that this is not about her, it is not about the SNP, and it is not even about the shambles that we witnessed from Alex Neil yesterday. This is about the 250,000 families that are set to lose £1,300 a year due to the Tory cuts to tax credits. Protecting income is not the same as restoring tax credits in full; the First Minister's careful language tells me that she knows that. Let us cut through all the words; I require a one-syllable answer. Will the First Minister help working families and restore every penny that will be lost through tax credits cuts—yes or no?

The First Minister: Here are some words that I never thought I would utter: Jackie Baillie is right about one thing. This is about the families across Scotland who stand to lose tax credits. That is why they deserve better than game-playing. They deserve from their Government real, detailed, credible, deliverable and affordable plans, and that is what they will get.

It really is a bit rich—almost as rich as it was for Annabel Goldie—for Jackie Baillie to stand in this chamber and talk about cuts to the incomes of poor families when, just two days ago, she pressed her button and voted to spend £167 billion on renewing Trident nuclear weapons on the Clyde.

Scottish Rate of Income Tax

6. Murdo Fraser (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con): To ask the First Minister at what level the Scottish rate of income tax will be set. (S4F-03034)

The First Minister (Nicola Sturgeon): In a radical new departure, we will announce that in the budget.

Murdo Fraser: At the weekend, the Scottish Labour Party of Jeremy Corbyn announced its plans to raise taxes on the Scottish people. The Scottish Conservatives will vigorously oppose any moves to tax families or businesses in Scotland more highly than those in the rest of the United Kingdom. Where does the First Minister stand on the issue? Will she join us and rule out higher taxes on families and businesses in Scotland—yes or no?

The First Minister: Murdo Fraser should advise his colleague Alex Johnstone that when he is encouraging me to join him, he should not sit there

leering at me in that strange way; it is extremely off-putting. I will recover my composure for just a second.

We will announce our tax plans during the budget, as most Governments tend to do.

Tax really is the last thing that the Tories should be talking about right now. The tax credits cuts that we have been talking about today would, in effect, raise the tax rate for some low-paid workers to 90 per cent. Right now it is the Tories that are the party of high tax on low-income households. Rather than endorse George Osborne's plans, as I believe he did yesterday, Murdo Fraser would perhaps be better advised to join his leader in asking George Osborne to reverse the cuts, just as we are doing.

The Presiding Officer: I do not think that Mr Johnstone is in the habit of "leering" in this chamber, First Minister.

Problem Debt

The Deputy Presiding Officer (Elaine Smith): The next item of business is a members' business debate on motion S4M-13952, in the name of James Dornan, on StepChange Debt Charity's action plan on problem debt. The debate will be concluded without any question being put.

Motion debated,

That the Parliament congratulates StepChange Debt Charity on its report, An Action Plan on Problem Debt; understands that this looks at ways to assist people to adjust to the shocks and challenges that can arise from debt without falling into further difficulty and takes a positive approach to dealing with what it considers can be the devastating consequences for people and their families, the wider economy and the public services; notes that the charity provides debt advice to anyone with a debt problem, and notes the view that people in Glasgow Cathcart and across the country who find themselves in this position should approach such organisations as soon as possible in order to resolve their problems.

12:31

James Dornan (Glasgow Cathcart) (SNP): I thank colleagues who signed the motion and those who will speak in this important debate on personal debt problems.

I pay tribute to StepChange Debt Charity Scotland for its hugely successful work in the area of personal debt crisis and for its assistance to me in preparing for this debate. I am sure that other members have been beneficiaries of the excellent research provided by the charity's public affairs officer, Mr James Stewart, and by Gillian Thompson, a trustee, who are both present in the gallery today. I thank them and all their colleagues for the help that they have given us.

StepChange is the largest provider of free independent debt advice and managed debt solutions in the United Kingdom. Last year it helped 16,000 people—the figure has almost doubled since 2012. It boasts the impressive stat that 97 per cent of its clients who enter statutory debt repayment solutions successfully pay off their debt. That is the highest percentage among all debt advice providers in Scotland. That is a commendable feat, which has helped to alleviate untold stress for many families and individuals in all our constituencies. The charity has achieved that by providing its clients with a tailored and detailed financial plan, which reassures both the client and the creditor that the repayments will be affordable and undoubtedly brings hope to those who once felt hopeless.

In cash terms, StepChange helped its clients to pay off £30 million of debt in Scotland last year. I recently visited its headquarters in Bothwell Street and was granted permission from clients to sit in

on some telephone consultations. The conversations between clients and advisers raised a number of issues. The first was that despite the Tory Government's assertion that indebtedness is an issue for, in its words, "the unemployed and the feckless", StepChange's research demonstrates clearly that that is not the case. Around one third of its clients are in full-time employment, another 30 per cent are unemployed and the remaining 40 per cent are retired, students, carers or in part-time employment.

The adviser who I was attached to, Michelle Robertson, shared with me two calls that particularly stick in my mind. The first was from two general practitioners who had £36,000 of payday loan debts across 27 individual loans. Those clients are not low-wage earners, unemployed, sick or infirm; they are a well-paid couple who still find themselves dragged into the debt trap. That just highlights how anyone can be caught in this spiral of misery.

The other call that I was told about was much more concerning. A gentleman had taken out a payday loan of £60 over a three-day period. After he missed the first repayment date, interest and charges escalated. By the time he contacted StepChange, his debt was £3,500, and by the time that StepChange was able to put a hold on it, the debt was £5,000. That is wrong—morally and economically. It should be legally wrong to charge such exorbitant levels of interest.

StepChange has conducted research on the effects of the proposed Tory tax credit reforms. It shows that 17 per cent of StepChange's clients who have three or more children are running a budget deficit. If those horrendous reforms are carried out, the figure would take an astonishing leap to 90 per cent, with an average loss of £231 a month. That clearly demonstrates beyond doubt the importance of tax credits in assisting families simply to make ends meet. I say this without wanting to play political games: the sooner this Parliament has the power to create its own tax credit system, the better it will be for everyone affected.

It is also extremely worrying that StepChange is seeing the make-up of clients' debt shift from credit card debt to arrears on essential bills. In 2008, the average debt of a StepChange client was £25,000. The good news is that that figure has fallen to £14,000. However—and this applies in both the social rented and private rented sectors—that debt is comprised mainly of rent and council tax arrears and utility bill debt. The reason for accruing debt has moved from people buying things that they would like but could do without to people having to fall into debt in order to stay in their home and keep on their utilities.

Although there is clearly still a huge debt problem in Scotland, it is widely recognised that the Scottish Government's efforts have assisted in helping those with debts. Scotland has the only statutory debt arrangement scheme in the United Kingdom. The six-week breathing space that freezes interest rates and charges to allow a manageable and sensible debt repayment schedule is not available to clients in any other part of the United Kingdom. We should be proud that we are leading the way.

I not only commend StepChange's sterling work, but acknowledge the many successful outcomes that James and his colleagues have reached for their clients. The action plan outlines how this Parliament can help to ensure that Scotland continues to help those with debt problems, and I would recommend that all members in the chamber read it. I would also urge all members to contact StepChange to see how it can help them in their constituencies. Its research is thorough and detailed to constituency level, which is helpful in getting a feel for the local situation.

None of our constituencies is free from personal debt. StepChange reaches out into all our communities and provides vital help. For that, it should be strongly commended and supported.

12:37

Ken Macintosh (Eastwood) (Lab): I thank my colleague James Dornan for securing today's debate at a particularly timely moment. In the runup to Christmas, many of us, including many families, should be looking forward with a sense of anticipation and excitement, but the gross materialism that is so typical of Christmas these days means that it is a time of anxiety and dread. Many families will be asking themselves simply, "How do I get through this? How will I survive Christmas?" We know the answer: they will turn to loans, debt, credit cards and anything else that is available, which increases the problem.

I, too, thank StepChange not just for providing a briefing and help for the debate, but for its work in helping people across Scotland and the UK. I had cause to refer three constituents from the same family to StepChange just two weeks ago. The family—a mother and two young adults in their 20s—are all of working age. The mother has a permanent job, which is low paid, while the two sons have been in and out of work. One of the sons had two part-time jobs but, in the past couple of months, had lost them both. The other son had lost his part-time job. The effect on the family was catastrophic.

The family had been in and out of work for several years. In 2010, they fell into council tax debt, and they have been in and out of that and

other debts for five years. They have been constantly threatened with court action. They then breach the arrangement schemes.

The family were faced with a court action only this week. The council is in the middle of rearranging a payment plan, but what often happens in such situations is that the plan is unaffordable, so it is not managed well, which creates another crisis.

There is no doubt that those are very difficult issues, but it points to the help that StepChange highlights in its action plan—that people need very small savings so that they have the resilience to survive, plus financial advice and support to see them through.

I am not sure how typical that family is, but I do not think that their situation is untypical. As James Dornan said, the people involved are not unemployed or feckless and irresponsible; often, they are families. I do not want to replay the tax credits argument, but I make the point that we have the powers in this place to make a difference, and we should use them to help some of these people.

The growing problem of debt is a generational issue, as many of these people are young. More than three quarters of those aged between 25 and 35 are anxious about their current debt, in comparison with about a third of those over 65.

I will focus on my constituency for a moment. StepChange sent me some statistics on my area and they are quite worrying. Eastwood clients had the highest average debt—£23,500 per person—in Scotland. More than a third of clients were in arrears with their council tax—like the constituents I saw—and 15 per cent had a payday loan with an average balance of just under £2,000; I notice that that figure has been growing every single year. In addition, a quarter of clients were in rent arrears.

We can only surmise why that might be the case. I imagine that it is linked to the fact that Eastwood is a relatively prosperous area, and people with higher incomes can borrow more money so they get into deeper debt. It shows that the problem exists across the board.

I will turn briefly to some of the things that we can do. One in five people cannot even read a bank statement, so financial education is vital. Social advertising from the Government may also help—I admit that it is difficult, as we can spend only thousands or tens of thousands of pounds whereas Wonga is spending millions and tens of millions, but it is something that we can do.

The Government has introduced a breathing space. Earlier this year I asked the minister, Fergus Ewing, what his position is on extending the six-week breathing space—the moratorium on

diligence—under the debt arrangement scheme. At the time he said that the period can currently be extended in prescribed circumstances, but that there are no plans to extend it further. I ask him again whether he is looking at that, because it is clearly very helpful to lift the threat from people in their moment of crisis.

The StepChange report's most important recommendation is that £1,000 in savings would protect 50,000 households in Scotland from problem debt and offer just that little bit of resilience. There are so many things that we are currently doing that we could build on.

I draw the minister's attention to the iSave credit union in Renfrewshire, the savvy savers project in South Lanarkshire and the future savers scheme in Glasgow. Those schemes are all based on credit unions and are all supported by our councils, which give pupils-usually those in secondary 1-£10 as part of a starter scheme to get them into the good habit of saving, it is hoped, for the rest of their lives. That sort of initiative can really make a difference and is something that the could Government support, perhaps underwriting the loan guarantee scheme. I ask the Government to look at that, and I congratulate James Dornan yet again on bringing this important debate to the chamber.

12:42

Gavin Brown (Lothian) (Con): I congratulate James Dornan on bringing the debate to the chamber to raise an important issue, and on highlighting the excellent report by StepChange.

I say at the outset that if we are serious about doing something to help families across the country, our time is far better served in discussing that excellent report than in making partisan and political remarks. I hope that the minister will focus his speech on the report and what we can do, rather than on making partisan remarks.

The report covers a range of areas and comes up with six excellent solutions, all of which require further investigation and two of which I will focus on today. Ken Macintosh is right to say that this time of year is a particular challenge for families. No time of year is easy, of course, but Christmas presents a particular challenge, which is a good reason for having the debate now.

The problem is already widespread, with 3 million people in debt across the UK, and that figure could potentially grow as the years go by given the challenges that we face in the global economy and the fact that the euro difficulties are being delayed but not resolved.

The biggest challenge of all, which I genuinely fear, is that at some point—whether that is next

year, the year after or the year after that—interest rates will go up. Interest rates can hardly come down—they have become, in effect, normalised at 0.5 per cent—and when they go up, whether to 1 per cent or 2 per cent, that will cause a whole new generation of problems for tens of thousands of families throughout the country. Now is the time to put in the hard yards and the effort on a crossparty, cross-national basis to ensure that we get on the right path as soon as we possibly can.

I will focus on two issues in particular. One of the solutions that StepChange focuses on, primarily on pages 10 and 11 of the report, involves calling for a review of affordable credit to seek far better alternatives to the high-interest credit that those on low incomes generally face. We read in a previous StepChange report that 29 per cent of total debt is on credit cards, which have some of the highest annual percentage rates.

That review will not be an easy challenge. Typically, the more money somebody has, the better their prospect of getting lower credit terms; and those with less money, but particularly those who need money most, get the highest and most challenging credit terms. It will not be easy to address that.

However, I was particularly impressed by what I read in the report of the Good Shepherd microfinance programme in Australia, which

"pools a range of charitable, government and financial services support and funding, provides ... different low income loans and grants to suit different circumstances, and provides access via mainstream banks and high street outlets locally."

That programme appears to have been a big success in Australia. I know little about it other than what is in the report, but it strikes me that it might be a very good starting point in trying to help people not only in Scotland but across the UK.

The second particularly strong idea in the report is that we need a pretty big expansion of free debt advice. There are very good charities out there-StepChange does a particularly good job—and there are Government schemes, but with 3 million people across the UK in serious debt problems at the moment, we need to do much more. The people who we are currently reaching are those who are best placed to sort out their problems; the ones I worry about the most are those who do not come to debt charities. Such people often put their heads in their hands and allow their stress to grow; then they find that for every week or month that passes, it becomes more difficult to resolve their problems and their debts rack up in a sometimes frightening way, as James Dornan indicated in the second example that he described. Therefore, we need to look urgently at finding more innovative ways of giving debt advice in order to reach the people who currently are quite simply not being reached.

I ask the minister in his closing remarks to address both the points that I have raised, should he have the time to do so.

12:47

Sandra White (Glasgow Kelvin) (SNP): I, too, thank James Dornan for bringing the issue to the chamber.

There is no doubt—as we have seen from the evidence in the briefing papers that we have been given, and as we have heard from members in their speeches—that people are finding it increasingly difficult to manage financially. As Ken Macintosh said, it is particularly difficult for such people during the Christmas period, when there are huge advertising campaigns aimed at parents for their children. People obviously get into debt over Christmas and find it very difficult to get back out of it. I congratulate StepChange and the other organisations that provide help and advice during what is a very difficult period for many people.

Like James Dornan, I have visited StepChange, which is located in my constituency in Glasgow city centre. I was very impressed by how things are handled there. I have visited twice and have spoken to the staff. I am always conscious that the issue for such staff is often how many calls they take and how quickly they can deal with them. However, I was really impressed by the fact that the StepChange staff take their time over the calls. I was allowed to listen in to some calls, at the behest of clients, to hear what issues were being raised. A particular case sticks in my mind. A staff member phoned a person back who had to go out to get their mobile phone topped up. The staff member phoned the person while they were out with their mobile phone in order to give them advice as quickly as possible—just like that—so that they could go somewhere to sort something out. I was very impressed by what StepChange offers and hope that it continues to provide such advice.

As Ken Macintosh said about his constituency, many people believe that my constituency—Glasgow Kelvin—is very affluent. Obviously, certain parts of it are affluent, but we also have problems. I will give members some figures about the Glasgow Kelvin constituency that will probably surprise them. More than one third of my constituents have been in arrears with their rent, 17 per cent have had electricity bill arrears, 41 per cent have had council tax arrears, and 16 per cent have had a payday loan, with the average balance being £1,560. As Ken Macintosh and Gavin Brown said, if people have more money, they can often afford to have more credit cards and so on.

This debate is important, and it is important that we have organisations such as StepChange. It is important for Parliament and for members to ensure that people know that they exist. It is a big problem if they do not. Ken Macintosh mentioned that people bury their heads in the sand, but if people were more aware that help is out there—it is our job and the job of others, including the Government, to make them aware—they might contact the organisations more timeously. That would allow them to have the breathing space period.

We in Scotland are very lucky, as James Dornan and Ken Macintosh said, in that we have an advantage over other parts of the UK in respect of the breathing space period. However, it is only six weeks. Sometimes when people take the big step to contact an organisation, they are already three or four weeks in arrears. Interest on their debts mounts up over the time that they take to put together their papers and contact various people, so I ask the minister to say whether there is any way to extend the period to nine or 12 weeks, or maybe even beyond that. People tend to bury their heads in the sand and it is a great worry that people do not contact organisations straight away.

James Dornan mentioned the situation with tax credits at Westminster, which we cannot hide from. I say to Gavin Brown that it is not being political to mention that. We must all work together in this chamber to ensure that people are aware that help is out there for them, regardless of the political situation. We all agree that the organisations do a great job. We must highlight and publicise them more, and perhaps we could extend the breathing space period a wee bit. I look forward to the minister's reply when he sums up.

12:51

The Minister for Business, Energy and Tourism (Fergus Ewing): I am delighted that James Dornan has given us the opportunity to debate the excellent work that the charity StepChange performs for people in Scotland and throughout the UK. Reference was made to the fact that Gillian Thompson of StepChange is listening to the debate. She is the former Accountant in Bankruptcy, with whom I worked for many years. Sharon Bell, who also works with StepChange, used to be an advisor to the Scottish Government and would sit in the seats up at the back of the chamber during debates such as this one, which I have spoken in since 2007.

I will focus on StepChange's work and its report, "An Action Plan on Problem Debt", which is one of the best reports that I have seen for a long time. It focuses on practical solutions to what is one of the most deep-seated problems in Britain, which is so often hidden from view.

StepChange points out:

"In the UK over 2.4 million dependent children live in indebted households. These children suffer hardship and mental distress ... More than half of children aged 10-17 in families with problem debt are embarrassed because they lack the things that their peers have, and nearly one in five have been bullied as a result."

StepChange also points out that

"Personal consumer debt in the UK stands at £168 billion".

Debt is not a problem in itself when it is managed, controlled, affordable and repaid. It is necessary for many purposes—for example, buying a house or a car. However, when it becomes a problem, I am afraid that things become very different indeed.

The problem is very often not triggered by fault or by profligacy, but by things that occur in life—losing a job through being made redundant, illness in the family or relationship breakdown. That became evident to me in the somewhat distant past, when I ran a small legal practice, where I routinely acted for the debtor and specialised in trying to preserve the family home. That experience left its mark on me and gave me an insight into the human cost—the human misery—of debt problems.

What does StepChange recommend in its report? Its first recommendation is that every family should have

"£1,000 in savings to cover a sudden cost or income shock".

There are many shocks for people who have no spare cash. The washing machine may break down. If people have children, they need a washing machine, but going out and buying one with a payday loan can be the start of the problems. Mr Dornan gave an example of a payday loan.

It sounds like an ambitious policy, but the recommendations in the StepChange report go some way towards showing how it could be made to work through nudging and changing behaviour—for example, through deductions and links to the automatic payroll pension. That would not deal with self-employed people or people who have incomes below £10,000, but members should read the report because it sets out a fascinating proposal. I hope that it will receive the attention that it deserves across the parties.

The second recommendation is that we

"Ensure all low income households can access low cost credit products".

As James Dornan pointed out, StepChange advises an enormous number of people in

Scotland and the UK, and in a great number of cases its advice is efficacious. In other words, it works. Of course, not everybody takes advice, as I well remember. Many people choose to ignore it. However, many people take it and benefit therefrom, and their lives change substantially for the better.

The third recommendation is that we

"Scale up free debt advice so that it reaches the 1.4 million people who urgently need advice".

We want to do that, and that is why among the reforms that we have made is making debt advice mandatory in certain circumstances. That has led, in turn, to greater uptake of advice.

The fourth recommendation is that we

"Ensure everyone dealing with their problem debt gets the protection against interest, charges, enforcement and collections they need".

In Scotland, we have taken forward the debt arrangement scheme proposal—I am not sure that there is a counterpart in England—and it works well, providing a diligence stopper. The fear of debt action being taken and sheriff officers coming to the door is huge. Unless people have been in that situation or spoken directly to people who have, it is difficult for them to understand that. In our comfortable lives, we can be unaware of the pressures.

DAS's diligence stopper of six weeks provides a breathing space. Three members said that the period should perhaps be extended. I confirm that we will undertake a policy review of all the BADAS—that is a piece of legislation, Presiding Officer—reforms, including the moratorium period, next year. I say for the uninitiated that BADAS is the Bankruptcy and Debt Advice (Scotland) Act 2014. It trips off the tongue, does it not?

The fifth recommendation is that we

"Protect children and families from the harm of aggressive debt collection practices".

I am pleased that payday loans are now subject to caps of £15 default fees and 100 per cent interest but—goodness me—is a cap at 100 per cent interest right? I do not think so. The first members' business debate that we had in the current session of Parliament was on that topic, and I have pressed the UK Government on it time and again. First, it said, "We are not doing anything about it." Latterly, it did something, but I do not think that it or the Financial Conduct Authority have gone far enough.

I see that I am into my last minute. If StepChange did not exist, we would have to invent it. It is a great charity that does terrific work. Mr Macintosh's practice of referring constituents to StepChange is one that we can emulate. Maybe we can encourage MSPs and MPs to do that,

because their constituents will receive good advice.

We are doing a lot on education. We have a financial health service policy that 35,000 people have benefited from and we are working on credit union availability, about which I have 18 seconds left to impart information. That is not enough—perhaps I can do it on another day.

In Scotland, there is a broad consensus that the recommendations from StepChange in its excellent report "An Action Plan on Problem Debt" are things that we want to do and that we want to happen. If we do them even only partly, we will make a tremendous difference to the lives of many people in this country—lives that are scarred by the misery of problem debt.

12:59

Meeting suspended.

14:30

On resuming-

Carers (Scotland) Bill: Stage 1

The Deputy Presiding Officer (John Scott): Good afternoon, everyone. The first item of business is a debate on motion S4M-14702, in the name of Jamie Hepburn, on the Carers (Scotland) Bill

I call Jamie Hepburn to speak to and move the motion. Minister, you have 14 minutes.

The Minister for Sport, Health Improvement and Mental Health (Jamie Hepburn): I am delighted to open the debate on the Carers (Scotland) Bill on a motion that the Parliament agrees to the general principles of the bill. I thank the Delegated Powers and Law Reform Committee, the Finance Committee and, in particular, the Health and Sport Committee, for their work to inform Parliament of their consideration of the bill.

I was pleased to see from the Health and Sport Committee's stage 1 report that it supports the bill's general principles. I will try to respond to some of the issues that the committee raised in its report. I also thank the Convention of Scottish Local Authorities, the national carers organisations and, crucially, the carers themselves and their representative groups, for the constructive engagement with the Government and their considerable input into the bill to date. I have tried to listen carefully to the views expressed; they have certainly helped me consider how the bill can be improved further and how we can take forward issues outside of the bill.

I will outline some of the Government amendments that I intend to lodge at stage 2 if, as I hope it will, the Parliament sees fit to agree to the bill's principles this evening. Several of the amendments are made as a direct result of suggestions and proposals that particular groups have made and which the committee has highlighted. I hope that carers will be able to hear their voices loud and clear throughout the bill's provisions and, indeed, throughout the bill's passage in the Parliament.

There are more than three quarters of a million unpaid carers across Scotland. They do an outstanding job caring for their loved ones, friends, neighbours or whoever it may be. It is right that we do what we can to better support Scotland's carers.

The purpose of the bill is that adults and young carers should be better supported on a more consistent basis, so that they can continue to care, if they so wish, in good health and to have a life

alongside caring. The bill aims to do that by extending and enhancing rights for carers in law. In the wider context of the programme for government, the bill forms a key part of the Government's position to tackle inequality, promote fairness and encourage participation.

Scotland has a growing population of older people successfully living longer. Sometimes, they do so with a range of complex and multiple physical and mental healthcare needs. There are also more children with complex health needs or disabilities. In the most deprived areas, 47 per cent of carers care for 35 hours a week or more. That is almost double the level in the least deprived areas.

We know from research that, although providing shorter periods of care can be positive for a person's mental wellbeing, those providing longer hours of care report a negative effect. We need to support Scotland's carers so that they in turn can support the many people with illnesses and disabilities or those who are frail. We especially need to support those who experience considerable disadvantage. Therefore, our wider work to tackle health inequalities within the even wider context of tackling economic disadvantage is, of course, crucial.

The bill is also set in the context of other legislation. It will complement the Public Bodies (Joint Working) (Scotland) Act 2014 and its provisions enabling the integration of health and social care. It will also work in conjunction with the Social Care (Self-directed Support) (Scotland) Act 2013 and the Children and Young People (Scotland) Act 2014.

Of equal importance is the continued emphasis on supporting carers in ways that cannot be included in the bill. We will continue to progress, for example, the carer positive initiative to recognise employers who actively support carers in the workforce.

I will turn to the bill's provisions and the Health and Sport Committee's comments in its stage 1 report. The bill will introduce a wider definition of carer. We are removing the requirement that a carer be someone who provides care on a regular and substantive basis. We are also removing the requirement that a cared-for person must be a person for whom the local authority must or may provide or secure the provision of community care services. All carers can ask for, as well as be offered, an adult carer support plan or a young carer statement. Under the bill's provisions, carers will have a right to an assessment of their needs.

I want more carers to come forward and to have an adult carer support plan or a young carer statement, as those are the gateway to support. At present too few carers have an assessment, so many carers are not getting the support that they need. The Health and Sport Committee has asked for clarification on how that additional demand will be managed.

I reassure the committee, and stakeholders for whom that is a concern, that an adult carer support plan or a young carer statement must be proportionate to the needs that are to be met and should reflect the carer's wishes, preferences and aspirations. It can be what might be described as "light touch" where that is consistent with those needs, preferences and aspirations. The critical point is that each individual carer should get a support plan that matches their assessed needs. Additional resources for local authorities will accompany the bill.

The adult carer support plan and the young carer statement will set out the carer's identified personal outcomes and needs and will record the support that is to be provided to meet those needs. The plan will also contain information about the adult carer's personal circumstances at the time of its preparation. That will include the nature and extent of the care provided; the impact of caring on the carer's wellbeing and day-to-day life; and—importantly—information on the extent to which the carer is willing and able to provide the care.

Many carers have said that knowing that the person for whom they care will be supported when they are unexpectedly unavailable brings peace of mind. Enable Scotland has effectively communicated the impact that that can have on carers, and the Health and Sport Committee has commented on that aspect in its stage 1 report.

I recognise that that is an issue of importance to carers. Therefore, as the First Minister set out at the carers parliament, I intend to lodge a Government amendment at stage 2 so that the adult carer support plan and young carer statement will also contain information about emergency planning.

I am pleased that we have been able to position young carers so firmly in the bill. I, along with other members, attended the young carers festival earlier this year, and none of us could have failed to be moved by listening to the experiences of the young carers who were there. Our ambition for young carers is that they should have a childhood as similar as possible to that of their non-carer peers.

The bill introduces the young carer statement as a direct response to feedback from young carers and their representative organisations to recognise the specific needs of young carers. To further that ambition, the statement must contain information about the extent to which the care that is provided by the young carer is appropriate.

The bill contains provisions that require local authorities to set local eligibility criteria. The criteria will allow the local authority to determine whether it is required to provide support to carers. There are also powers for the Scottish ministers to specify in regulations matters to which the local authority must have regard in setting local eligibility criteria.

Johann Lamont (Glasgow Pollok) (Lab): I have been struck by the different levels of support that are available for young carers in different areas. Why has the Government come down in favour of having local eligibility criteria rather than establishing a baseline that could be expected to apply across Scotland and which local authorities could tailor to their particular needs?

Jamie Hepburn: I was just about to come on to say that I recognise that there has been debate about that particular issue. We need to recognise that local authorities are democratically accountable bodies in their own right, but it is important that we set some direction, and we will do so. As I have set out, we will address in regulations matters to which local authorities must have regard in setting local eligibility criteria.

The Health and Sport Committee has asked us to consider that further; we have done so and we will continue to do so. I recognise that the national carers organisations have undertaken a range of work on the matter, for which I thank them, and I assure them that that work will inform the regulations that we set out. My clear commitment to those organisations is that we will continue to work with them to ensure that we get the regulations and guidance right. The bill is only at stage 1, and I will consider anything that comes forward at stage 2.

Local authorities are under a duty to prepare a local carer strategy and must consult with health boards, carers and carers organisations in doing so. As the Health and Sport Committee noted in its stage 1 report, those provisions will complement those that are set out in the Public Bodies (Joint Working) (Scotland) Act 2014. All local authority and national health service board functions created under this bill that relate to the delivery of services to adult carers will require to be delegated under integration schemes under the 2014 act. All local authority and NHS board functions relating to the young carers will be capable of being delegated if the local authority and NHS board choose to do so.

To complement provisions in the Carers (Scotland) Bill on carer involvement, regulations under the Public Bodies (Joint Working) (Scotland) Act 2014 provide for carers to be represented on integration joint boards and integration joint monitoring committees and to be involved in strategic and locality planning by integration

authorities. I believe that it is essential that carers' voices are heard locally, and our legislation will help ensure that that happens.

Local authorities will be required to establish and maintain an information and advice service. That recognises the role that timely, accurate information about issues such as income maximisation can play in enabling carers to sustain their caring role and have a life alongside caring, which is of course one of the fundamental aims of the bill overall. It is my intention that, in complying with that duty, local authorities should pay due regard to existing provision, including that provided by the third sector and national health service boards.

The Health and Sport Committee has recommended that that intention should be made clearer. I agree, so I intend to lodge a Government amendment at stage 2 to clarify that, where sources of information and advice are already available within the local authority area, there is no requirement to create an additional information and advice service, although there will still be a requirement to maintain such a service.

Finally, I take this opportunity to clarify the position in relation to the waiving of charges and replacement care. That is an important issue for carers, so I am pleased to confirm that carers will not be charged for replacement care that meets their assessment needs; neither will the cared-for person be charged for support that meets a carer's eligible needs. The cared-for person's views will be taken into account in decisions on services that are delivered to him or her in order to meet the carer's needs. When the bill commences, local authorities will be required to waive charges for support provided under section 22 of the bill. Minimal amendments to existing regulations on waiving charges will be required to reflect that change.

I will say a few words about the bill's implementation. The effective implementation of the bill will be hugely important as there is so much in it of benefit to carers and it enshrines a number of significant carers' rights. I restate my commitment to key stakeholders to work together with them to ensure that implementation of the bill is firmly grounded in reality. As I set out earlier, the feedback and views that we have received thus far have been hugely important to us. I look forward to our continuing to work constructively together to deliver the regulations and guidance under the bill.

Again, I thank the Parliament for the opportunity to set out what I expect the bill to do for carers. I mentioned some of the issues raised by the Health and Sport Committee in its report; I know that it raised other issues, but I am sure that they will be covered over the course of this debate. I look forward to continuing to hear the views of the

committee as we move forward to stage 2 and I look forward to hearing what other members have to say in today's debate on this important issue.

I move.

That the Parliament agrees to the general principles of the Carers (Scotland) Bill.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: I call Duncan McNeil to speak on behalf of the Health and Sport Committee. Mr McNeil, you have 10 minutes or thereby.

14:43

Duncan McNeil (Greenock and Inverclyde) (Lab): The majority of us in the chamber this afternoon have been, or will be at some point in our lives, carers. For some of us, it will become a lifelong commitment; for others, it will be something that we do intensely for a few months that will change our lives dramatically, and then it will be over. Being a carer is a role born out of love and support for those closest to us. It can bring a source of satisfaction, be life affirming and deepen relationships. However, it can also be physically demanding and require huge emotional strength. It can have a detrimental effect on an individual's physical and mental health, friendships. relationships and employment.

The Health and Sport Committee welcomes and supports the general principles of the bill, which seeks to provide better support and rights for carers. It is important to ensure that people can continue to care in good health and have a life alongside caring. I offer my thanks and those of the committee to all the witnesses who gave evidence on the bill but especially to the carers, who gave of their precious time to engage with the committee. We were fortunate to meet carers from far and wide—Shetland, Falkirk, Glasgow and Skye. We met young carers, many of whom had been caring since their primary school days, and older carers in their 70s and 80s. The meetings gave us an invaluable insight into those carers' daily lives and to their hopes and aspirations to receive better support.

There is much to be welcomed in the bill, including the broadening of the definition of carer and the provision of a universal entitlement to an adult care support plan or a young carer statement, which the minister mentioned in his speech. We welcome the agreement that the Scottish Government and COSLA have reached that will ensure that charges for replacement care will be waived, which follows on from the Finance Committee's scrutiny of the financial memorandum. We also welcome Government's further clarification of replacement care costs. The figure of £16 million is now regarded as a maximum estimate. The committee

was keen to get that clarification before today's vote.

My colleague Johann Lamont referred to eligibility criteria in her intervention. During our scrutiny we explored in some detail the question of whether the eligibility criteria that will be used to determine which carers are provided support by the local authority should be set at the local or national level. The committee took evidence and recognised the concerns on both sides about eligibility criteria. On the one hand, carers wanted the Scottish Government to set criteria on a national basis from the outset. They believe that that would provide equity and a degree of certainty for carers across Scotland, and prevent what many describe as a postcode lottery. On the other hand, COSLA and the local authorities were concerned that they needed to be able to prioritise support in line with local needs.

As the minister mentioned, our report calls for Scottish Government to give further consideration to whether the balance between Government and local authorities in setting eligibility criteria is appropriate. The minister made it clear that he believes that the right balance is being struck. I take encouragement from his remarks today that that discussion will continue. If things stay the same and there is no substantial movement from the minister's stated view, there will have to be a focus on assessment and monitoring of the approach. People need to be assured that the issues that they are worrying about are being tackled. We need to be able to ensure that the approach that is being taken is delivering what we expect on the ground. I welcome the minister's commitment, in his response to the committee's report, that he will continue to work with COSLA, local authorities, the national carers organisations and carers to share their ideas and views about eligibility criteria and how they are monitored and assessed. I look forward to hearing the outcome of those discussions.

The minister has listened to our evidence on several other areas of the bill, which we welcome. He committed to bring forward changes to the bill at stage 2 in the light of our findings. We look forward to hearing how he will do that-first, with regard to our recommendation that consideration should be given to prioritising assessments for carers who are caring for someone at the end of their life: secondly, with regard recommendation that it should be made clearer that the focus should be on supporting and enhancing existing carer information and advice services—any new services should be established only where necessary, as the minister said in his and thirdly, with regard to our recommendation that adult care support plans and should young carer statements include

consideration of emergency planning arrangements. We look forward to assessing the details of the Government's amendments in those areas at stage 2.

I am pleased that the Scottish Government supports our recommendation that the bill should place greater emphasis on the role of the national health service. However, I ask the minister to provide further information this afternoon on hospital admissions and discharge. We heard on several occasions—and we know from our casework—that there are concerns among carers and carers organisations that a lack of consultation with carers when a person for whom they are caring is admitted or, more important, discharged from hospital often results in crisis situations and, in many cases, ultimately, unnecessary readmissions to hospital.

We asked the Government to respond to the call to include in the bill provisions that place a duty on health boards to involve carers in hospital admissions and discharge procedures, and the Government confirmed that health admissions and discharge protocols will highlight the importance of consulting carers in the process. However, the Government also highlighted that local authorities are required to take carers' views into account should the community assessment need to be revised, so far as it is reasonable and practicable to do so. That suggests that there may be instances in which it is not reasonable or practicable to take carers' views into account before the cared-for person is discharged. A question arises from that, and I hope that the minister will be able to give us some examples of where he believes that it would be appropriate not to consult carers at the point of discharge.

The minister has said that further detail will be provided on several provisions in the bill by way of regulations. That includes further clarification of what is considered to be a short break for carers. Can the minister provide further detail on the Government's approach to those regulations? Will draft regulations be published? What will the consultation process be? We must ensure that, even though the plans are not in the bill, there is scope for the Parliament and those who will be directly affected by the plans to engage with and shape them.

The committee believes that the bill is an important step in delivering appropriate care and support to carers in 21st century Scotland, and we recommend that the Scottish Parliament supports its general principles.

14:53

Rhoda Grant (Highlands and Islands) (Lab): I, too, thank those who gave evidence on the bill to

the Health and Sport Committee, and I thank the carers organisations that have worked alongside committee members, both at committee and in other locations, and given us advice and information on the bill and what they believe should be in it. I am grateful for that.

We welcome the bill. Its sentiments and general principles are easy to support. Carers need to be recognised for the role that they play in looking after family and friends, giving, and continuing to give, even when that is to their detriment. The value of that in monetary terms is estimated to be £10.3 billion per annum, but what carers provide in personal terms is priceless. They do it because of love and compassion—they do not want to see their loved ones going without support-and I believe that we, in turn, must support them. Carers are used to warm words and appreciative statements. What they really need is support. On the face of it, the bill offers that, but it needs to be strengthened to ensure that it delivers real support for carers.

Carers' lives are as different as the individuals, so their needs will always be different. They cope in circumstances that are often difficult to comprehend, and the bill seeks to support them in their role. Adult carers need to be able to have a life of their own, the ability to work and the ability to decide on the extent of their caring role.

Young carers need support to be children, to have a childhood and to have that role recognised. The bill talks about removing the caring role from pre-school children. Young carers organisations disagree. They believe that young children need to be allowed to care, but only to an extent that is appropriate to their age and wishes. I believe that that principle holds true for all carers. They must be given a choice about whether they are carers and, if so, what amount of care they provide. That turns current practice on its head. At the moment, carers are expected—often forced—to care, and do so with very little support. They do not have a choice.

I have heard from constituents who are at their breaking point, collapsing from stress and exhaustion, yet receiving no support. They cannot attend to their own health needs because there is no one to pick up their caring role. I have also heard of carers who suffer violence because their loved one no longer knows who they are and reacts badly to them, yet there is no protection for them and they are told that they must continue to care as there is nowhere for a violent person to be cared for.

We hear from young carers that they have to choose between education and their caring responsibility. Every child needs a childhood and every child has a right to education. That should not be compromised by their caring role. Their caring role must be replaced to allow them to access education, without the threat of being taken into care. Families need support, not fear.

Turning to the finance that supports—or, possibly, does not support—the bill, COSLA and carers organisations are concerned that the financial memorandum is not realistic about the cost of providing support to carers. One carer told me that the cost of providing replacement care to allow her a break would run to thousands of pounds if it was provided for a week. The financial memorandum does not reflect those costs. The Government has said that it will finance replacement care; I welcome that, but its costings need to be realistic. It has committed £16 million, but it is not clear whether that is from the funding that is already allocated to carers, or whether it is new money.

Other aspects of the bill are also unrealistically costed. The cost of carrying out an assessment runs to much more than the financial memorandum suggests. Neither does the bill take account of the burden on social workers, who are already overworked. Can other organisations and professionals carry out carers' assessments? Could that be a role for carers centres, which could relieve pressure on social workers?

I turn to changes that I believe would strengthen the bill. COSLA and carers organisations are concerned about the eligibility criteria, which a number of members have mentioned. Councils. which are under huge financial pressure and are taking on more of the burden for a smaller share of the finance, are concerned that the bill is yet another unfunded demand. They understand the needs of carers and empathise with them, but they worry that services for carers will mean fewer services for the cared-for person if the provision is not properly funded. If that were to happen, the burden would fall to carers again and we enter a vicious circle. Councils do not want nationally set criteria for support for carers because they are afraid that that will be unaffordable. However, carers are concerned that there will be a postcode lottery with regard to support for carers if criteria are set locally.

Carers organisations have come up with a possible solution, which involves setting minimum national standards to prioritise the needs of carers who are unable to continue their caring role without support; those who are on the verge of having to give up the role; those who have to choose between employment and caring; and those who are looking after someone at the end of their life. They suggest that those people should be eligible for support through national criteria. The terms of the support must be person centred but can be locally decided, while delivering the outcome that allows the carer to continue to care.

Carers organisations also suggest that support for carers more widely could be set by local criteria, but the suggestion would ensure that those in most need are prioritised. A similar proposal has been made by Unison. That is especially important in the early stages of delivery of the bill's outcomes, because even the Government admits that only a small percentage of carers will have their needs met in the early days of the act. It is important to ensure that those are the carers who are most in need.

The bill provides for short breaks for carers but lacks a definition of what a short break will be. Will it be an hour to nip out to the shops? Will it be an afternoon to meet friends? Will it be a week to go on holiday? None of that is clear in the bill. What is clear is that carers are the only people in our society who are expected to work unsupported 24/7. A short break needs to be a break from caring. However, it should not be seen as the only support that allows a carer to live their life. A number of constituents have raised the issue with me as a concern. One was told, when she had to go into hospital, that she would receive respite care to allow her to go into hospital. However, despite being told, on her discharge from hospital, that she should do nothing strenuous for a number of months, her adult daughter was returned to her immediately without any additional support being provided. Her daughter has mobility problems and needs to be lifted often as part of her care. My constituent was told that she had used up her annual allocation of respite and, basically, that she had to get on with it. Another constituent who was offered a hospital appointment for an operation organised replacement care herself, which involved a family member travelling from abroad and her booking into a respite care bed. All that had been organised only for her operation to be cancelled at short notice without her being able to change any of the alternative care arrangements that she had put in place.

The bill specifically entitles young carers to a young carer statement, but it is unclear what that statement will provide. As a minimum it must assess support to ensure that the young carer has a childhood and is fully engaged in education. The Scottish Youth Parliament's report entitled "A Costly Youth: The Impact of Caring on Young People in Scotland" highlights the impact that caring has on education. Young carers are concerned that the young carer statement will be placed with their child's plan—if they have one—or passed to their named person. If the statement is prepared correctly, it will detail the support that the young carer needs and may give details about their home circumstances, and they are not always happy about their headteacher-the default named person—having access to that. The situation will vary depending on the child's

relationship with their headteacher and the support that they receive from the headteacher, but I believe that the minister needs to look at that again. I fear that the lack of confidentiality could result in young carers avoiding having a statement and asking for support. It is really important that a school knows that someone is a young carer so that it can provide educational support, but it should be up to the young person to decide on the level of information that is provided to the school regarding their home circumstances.

The bill needs to look at accountability and enforcement. A carer's life is challenging enough without their having to fight for the support that they are entitled to. We need to acknowledge that things do not always work well and that carers need a simple, straightforward appeals process. The current system is too complicated and takes too long to work through. A carer simply does not have the time to navigate a complicated process, especially if they are caring for someone who is terminally ill. An appeals system that is accessible and simple will benefit carers and allow them to access the support that they need. Both the assessment and the delivery of support must be subject to appeal, and I ask that that be included in the bill.

Presiding Officer, I am aware that I am running out of time.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: You can have a little more time, if you want.

Rhoda Grant: Thank you, Presiding Officer.

The minister mentioned emergency planning, and I welcome his commitment to amend the bill at stage 2 to allow for emergency planning. Something else that must be included is transition planning. Many elderly carers look after their offspring, knowing that their offspring are likely to outlive them and worrying about what will happen to them when they are no longer around. Emergency plans are therefore essential, especially in situations involving elderly carers. The assessment needs to look at transition planning as well, so that people can have comfort.

We need security for advice and information services. I welcome the minister's commitment to lodging an amendment on that at stage 2. However, such services should be a bit more secure. Instead of there being no requirement on local authorities to establish them, there should possibly be a commitment that they should support such services. Information services for carers are independent of local government, although much of the support comes through local government, and it is important to have an independent voice supporting carers.

We need equalities statements as part of the carers plans from local authorities and a bill of

rights for carers so that they know what they are entitled to.

We welcome the bill and hope that the Scottish Government will listen to our concerns and work with us to improve the bill. If we do that as a Parliament, we can go much further than warm words and show carers how much we value what they do.

15:05

Nanette Milne (North East Scotland) (Con): I am pleased to see the bill make its way through the parliamentary process. While it will require a number of amendments as it goes forward, the Scottish Conservatives will support it at stage 1.

I echo the thanks already expressed to the many witnesses who gave evidence to the Health and Sport Committee—many of them carers themselves—and who let us know where they support the bill's provisions and where they have concerns.

The care provided by the many thousands of adult and young carers today is valued at a massive £10.3 billion a year. While there are already various strategies and pieces of legislation in place to help to improve carer identification and support, the bill seeks to achieve better and more consistent support for all Scotland's carers by enshrining their rights in law so that they can continue to care, if they so wish, in good health, can have a life besides caring and, in the case of young carers, can have a childhood similar to their non-carer peers.

The aims of the bill are laudable. If they are achieved, they should make a significant improvement to the lives of the carers who make such a valuable contribution to our society.

That said, the Health and Sport Committee heard serious reservations about parts of the bill from the witnesses who gave written and oral evidence. I note the minister's response to them and his welcome decision to introduce a number of amendments as the bill proceeds through Parliament. I will touch on a few of those concerns during the remainder of my speech.

The broadening of the definition of carer and the entitlement to an adult carer support plan or a young carer statement, which should enable more carers to seek support, is generally welcomed. However, as we have heard, that has led to concern about how local authorities will manage the expected increase in demand for an adult carer support plan or a young carer statement in accordance with carers' wishes and level of need. While the ministerial response gives some comfort that additional resource will be available to support management of the demand, there are still serious

concerns about the adequacy of the funding that is to be made available.

No timescale is specified in the bill for providing an adult carer support plan or a young carer statement. There are cases in which they are required urgently, such as when a carer is supporting someone at the end of life. I am pleased that the minister has taken that on board and look forward to his stage 2 amendments.

In that context, Marie Curie Cancer Care points out that the bill as drafted will not support carers whose caring role has come to an end, for example following bereavement, and asks the Government to consider an amendment to ensure that support is available for people as they make the transition away from their caring role.

Guidance is also required to give all carers an understanding of the expected timescale for receiving an assessment after one is requested. That should be reasonable and should ensure some consistency across all councils so that all carers receive a support plan as soon as possible. The bill would place an explicit duty on councils to provide support to carers who meet eligibility criteria and would give discretionary powers to support those who do not. Those criteria would be set locally.

It is fair to say that that proposal was met with a sharply polarised response from witnesses, with carers very strongly in favour of nationally set eligibility criteria, to ensure equity across Scotland, and council representatives wanting them set locally. Although the Government is satisfied that its proposals are appropriate and the minister has pledged to work with all stakeholder groups to share ideas and opinions about eligibility criteria, I have no doubt that we will hear a lot more about that issue at stage 2.

Of great importance to carers is the availability of an information and advice service that is local, independent and expert. Such services are already provided within the third sector. There is a strong feeling that the focus should be on funding and supporting them and that new services should be set up only where necessary. Therefore, I look forward to the Government's promised stage 2 amendments to clarify that, where such a service is already available locally, there is no reason to duplicate it, although the local authority will be required to ensure that it is maintained.

The bill would move the duty to prepare a local carers strategy from health boards to councils, and many of our witnesses felt that there should be a greater role for the national health service in identifying carers and signposting them to services and support, particularly in light of the continuing integration of health and social care. Again, I look

forward to seeing the Government's promised stage 2 amendments to give effect to that.

There is also a call for the bill to include a duty on health boards to involve carers in hospital admission and discharge procedures because of valid concerns that a crisis can develop if, before discharge, hospital staff do not identify carers and establish that they are willing and able to provide the necessary care. I hope that the Government will consider that.

There are particular issues with young carers, who are less likely to identify themselves as carers and who, depending on their age, may not realise that they are carers. There is a general welcome for the young carer statement but, as Rhoda Grant said, a lack of clarity as to how it will link to the child's plan. There are also concerns about information in the statements being shared with a young carer's named person. The young carer should have control over where that information goes.

There are several other issues that I do not have the time to deal with in detail, such as emergency planning, but I cannot conclude without reiterating the many concerns that have been expressed about the estimated costs of implementing the bill and the Finance Committee's serious concern about how, with the current proposals, charges can be waived for services that support carers, including the replacement care that is often required to enable them to take the short breaks that are essential if they are to be able to continue their caring roles without detriment to their wellbeing. Those financial issues simply must be resolved if the bill is to be effective.

As I said at the outset, we will support the general principles of this important bill but there is clearly still some way to go to ensure that it becomes the effective piece of legislation that the Government envisages in its policy memorandum.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: We move to the open debate. We have a modest amount of time available, so speeches will be six minutes or thereabouts.

15:12

Graeme Dey (Angus South) (SNP): Two things unite the chamber in relation to the bill: first, the fact that we welcome its intent; and secondly, a shared desire to ensure that, when it is finished with, it delivers as much as is feasible to improve the lives of carers.

Measures that lead to the better identification of carers and their needs, and the placing of a duty on local authorities to support carers in a variety of ways, are as welcome as they are needed. The reduced budget that is available to the Parliament and, in turn, local authorities restricts our ability to go as far as we might want in giving carers the kind of deal that they deserve. However, the Government's commitment to increasing the carer's allowance and its success with pushing the United Kingdom Government to introduce amendments to the Scotland Bill to provide autonomy over defining carer's allowance eligibility, coupled with the bill, are evidence of the direction of travel to which the SNP is committed as far as carers are concerned. I acknowledge that there are many MSPs in other parties who share a desire to create a framework that better recognises and supports carers' work.

I commend the stage 1 report that the Health and Sport Committee has produced. I say that not because I am currently a substitute member of the committee—I played no part in the scrutiny process—but because it is an excellent piece of work. I also welcome the Scottish Government's response to it. We started out on the right track with the bill. The committee and the minister, in his response to the report and his opening speech, have given fresh impetus to that journey, although there remain areas of the bill in which there is scope for further improvement.

Government's intention to lodge amendments to ensure that adult carer support plans and young carer statements will contain information about emergency planning is as welcome as it is necessary. Anyone with the slightest knowledge of carers recognises their concern about what would happen if they had to go away or into hospital and the anxiety that it causes. The planned stage 2 amendments on setting timescales for preparing adult carer support plans and young carer statements in cases in which the cared-for person is terminally ill is similarly a step in the right direction.

The point of the scrutiny process of which the debate forms part is to consider how we might further improve the bill. There are a number of opportunities in that regard. Waiting times for adult carer support plans and young carer statements are one of those, as is the duty on hospital discharge.

I am concerned that no national time limit has been set for the production of a carer's assessment. As we know, there can be wide variations in performance in that area and, to be frank, ridiculous delays that stretch to not only months but years. Through the bill, we need to send a message that we want greater consistency that reflects best practice. I am not sure that, on its own, the inclusion of intended timescales in each local carer strategy will deliver that.

The issue of hospital admission and discharge is dealt with well in paragraphs 106 to 108 of the stage 1 report. I note what the minister says in his

response about the bill's provisions supporting the involvement of carers in hospital admission and discharge procedures and his view that the accompanying guidance will highlight the importance of involving carers in that process, but twice in his response the minister uses the phrase

"where it is reasonable and practicable to do so".

Although I do not doubt his intention in this area. I wonder-as Duncan McNeil did-whether we need to strengthen this part of the bill. Who will determine when the circumstances are such that it is "reasonable and practicable" to take the views of the carer into account? Will it be harassed ward staff or the busy social work team member? I share the concerns that carer organisations have expressed that the reality might differ from what is intended, and I hope that the issue can be considered again, difficult though it might be to nail it down. The minister has agreed to lodge amendments to put beyond doubt the role of the NHS in preparing local carer strategies and identifying carers, and I wonder whether we might be able to tighten things up in this area, too.

In a similar vein, although I do not necessarily seek an amendment, I note the committee's comments on the role of general practitioner practices in identifying and supporting carers. I appreciate entirely that GP practices are under considerable pressure and welcome the fact that carer identification will be covered in the guidance, but if, as I have found in my constituency, some GP practices will not even display posters that direct patients to carer support services, there might be work to be done in ensuring that they go beyond even that basic action.

As Nanette Milne did, I want to touch on an important issue that Marie Curie has raised about supporting the needs of those carers whose caring role has come to an end. As Marie Curie says, many carers will need support after they have finished caring. I know from my work locally with the carers centre in Arbroath and from hosting visits to Parliament by carers from all over Angus that the support network and camaraderie on offer. never mind the advice and practical assistance that are provided by staff from such organisations. are vital in helping people to cope with their caring responsibilities. There is also surely a need for people to have access to such provision when those responsibilities end and they seek to move on in their lives.

The Angus carers centre in my constituency extends access to its services for two years after the person's caring responsibilities have come to an end. I would be interested—as I am sure the minister would be—in finding out whether that is typical across Scotland. If it is not, perhaps we need to explore how we can provide support to former carers in that position.

I hope that the minister takes my contribution in the spirit in which it is intended; I am sure that he will. As I said earlier, the bill as drafted provided an excellent starting point. The Health and Sport Committee's stage 1 report, along with the minister's response to it, offers to move it along. With the will to take that further, which I am sure exists, I think that we can end up with a piece of legislation that has the potential to make the kind of tangible difference to the lives of carers that we all want to see.

15:17

Johann Lamont (Glasgow Pollok) (Lab): We know that there is across the chamber significant support for carers. Some of us have been carers or will be in the future. We have certainly met people in our communities who take on the most immense burden in difficult times, and they have our admiration.

Out of love—although occasionally people are caught up in a caring role by accident—carers go far beyond what most of us can imagine in disrupting their lives to give people the care that they need. There is no doubt that, since the Parliament was established, carers' voices have been heard. They have been at the heart of many of our debates, and the campaigning organisations and the carers should be congratulated on how effective they have been.

However, we face a challenge in relation to the Carers (Scotland) Bill. We need to ask whether, as well as hearing what carers say, we are listening to what they tell us. We will be damned if we settle for rhetoric without delivering on carers' aspirations. There needs to be a will to make a difference. If warm words put food on the table, carers would be feeding on a banquet every night. That is a challenge for all of us.

I am proud of the work that Labour did when it was in power. I am particularly proud of the establishment of carers centres, which represent an understanding of the need for flexible support and which reach out to and support people when they are in circumstances in which they find it difficult to get through processes. I pay particular tribute to south-west Glasgow carers centre in my constituency. As well as providing practical support to carers, including young carers, it supports people who no longer have a caring role and offers friendship to people as they come to terms with bereavement.

The centre has highlighted a number of specific points—as it often does when I meet it—that it would be useful for me to raise with the minister. I want to raise points from the cross-party group on carers and, if I have time, I will make a number of broader observations about the bill.

Many carers have expressed frustration because some of the care support that they need is not big stuff. They may need time to go to the hairdresser, the library or church, or they may need to spend a little time with their friends. There is frustration that access even to a bit of respite or support can often involve a long and complicated process, which in some cases is more expensive to fund than the cost of the support.

There is the example of a woman who cares for her husband and who wanted to go to her granddaughter's wedding. It took more than nine months to establish whether she would be able to get that time off. Even then, she lacked the confidence in the care that was going to be offered to her husband to allow her to go to that wedding. Surely we can find a process or establish a fund to provide small amounts of money with speedy access, which would make a huge difference to people in their ordinary lives and help them to sustain their caring role.

Problems with the carers information moneys have also been highlighted to me. I understand the plan to take those moneys from health boards and give them to local authorities, but there is a concern that the moneys have on some occasions been handed back unspent and therefore that the opportunity has not been taken to support carers. What mechanism has the minister considered, with the planned change to local authorities, to ensure that the funding gets as close to carers as possible, does not get lost in the process and is directed towards those who need it most?

Practical issues that relate to young carers need to be addressed, including attendance conditions on education maintenance allowance in schools. Work has been done to ensure that colleges and universities understand the particular barriers that young carers face. They need the liberation and support of education almost more than most young people do, and we should ensure that we talk to authorities about that.

Like others, I accept that there is support for the bill at this stage, but that cannot in itself be enough. We need to be honest about the tough context in which carers are working. I have been struck by the dilemma that emerges in the bill with the proposal to open up the identification of carers and the assessment of their needs. I understand the rationale behind early identification, but we must reflect on the fear that has been expressed that such a broadening might dilute the support that is available to carers who are already in need.

In truth, a right that is unenforceable is unacceptable. We need not just to declare the right but to will the means to deliver. That is a practical challenge for the Government and the minister. It is not good enough for us to create a

right and then sit back and denounce local authorities when they fail to deliver it.

I acknowledge the emphasis on identifying young carers, which can be a challenge. In my last teaching post, when I worked to support young people to stay in mainstream education, I met many young people who were carers. Some of them were carers entirely inappropriately. I know that understanding of a young person's situation—they might be reluctant to talk about the reality of their family life—is more likely when there is a strong guidance team, a strong attendance officer team, behaviour support, learning support and classroom assistants. Those people have the intelligence and understanding to reach out and see that a young person is perhaps struggling because of what is happening in their home.

Neil Findlay (Lothian) (Lab): One of the worst moments that I had in teaching was when I chastised a young girl for being late every morning—she came into my class late each day—because no one had informed me that she was a carer. That was absolutely awful, and that is where the system breaks down.

Johann Lamont: I will make two brief points. In giving our teachers information, we need to have more confidence that they will treat it professionally. If they do not do that, we should definitely deal with that, because they will have behaved inappropriately.

I am making the point that the intelligence in schools is often garnered not simply by teachers. At this moment, our schools are being stripped of such support because of the pressures on their budgets.

We need to see carers in the context of the real world, which is increasingly stressful. If they are working, their tax credits may be removed, and employers are demanding increased flexibility of them. Zero-hours contracts and people being available for longer means that they cannot guarantee that they can care for their loved one. People are being forced out of work because of a lack of proper support.

I raise the particular problem of kinship carers in my city. I am sure that the minister is aware that 32 per cent of all children who are supported in kinship care situations are in Glasgow. I ask him to look again at the funding that is needed to match our aspiration that kinship carers should have parity with foster carers. I ask him to give me a guarantee that we will not all just sit and blame one another for that situation. We need to work together to get a solution for kinship carers.

We understand the central role of local authorities in offering support for carers. It is therefore essential, whether it is in health, education or social work—wherever it might be—

that we are honest about how we will ensure that local authorities are properly supported.

Across the Parliament, we have a responsibility on this. If we are saying that local authorities must deliver good-quality care, we need to take a fundamental look at how we regard local authorities and how we fund that care. That is a key commitment for any bill through which we want to provide increased support to carers.

15:26

Linda Fabiani (East Kilbride) (SNP): I welcome the Carers (Scotland) Bill and the fact that, after many years of everyone in the Parliament coming together to get the best rights for carers, we are now considering a bill that will enshrine carers' rights in law for the first time in Scotland.

What many people, including the minister, have said is absolutely right: implementation is hugely important. That covers implementation at the start, but there are also on-going matters such as monitoring, funding, guidance, regulations and the mix of guidance and legislation. I hope that the minister is having discussions with COSLA and local authorities as to how the proposed measures can best be implemented and monitored.

For any bill, the stage 1 debate is a really good opportunity to raise particular issues, perhaps including missed areas for improvement and the identification of unintended consequences that sometimes come up. The Health and Sport Committee's report highlighted some of that. The commitment that the Government has made to lodging stage 2 amendments, including amendments on emergency planning, is welcome.

I wish to discuss two kinds of carers, to ensure that their circumstances have been fully considered in the consultation process and the drawing up of the bill for introduction. The subject of carers of adults who have learning difficulties has been raised many times by me and by other members over the years. There are particularly active elderly carers in my constituency of East Kilbride who have very much helped to force improvements.

The example of parents who are carers of their adult children with learning difficulties puts into stark relief some of the needs that we are discussing. Support plans are absolutely necessary. There is an issue about no statutory timing being specified for introducing support plans. That is hugely important when we are considering particular categories of carers, and the carers of adults with learning difficulties represent one such category.

That leads us to emergency plans. For many years, we have talked about the good practice of having crisis plans and emergency plans, but the theory does not always translate into practice, and I have seen examples of that. We might consider the stress that is experienced by someone who is 80 or older, for instance—as I know—from the absolute terror of something happening to them and of their child who has a vulnerability, regardless of their age, coming home to find that their mum or dad is not there any more, with no proper plan in place. That is a huge stress for carers to deal with. I would like support plans and emergency plans for that category of carer to be given absolute priority. That is very important.

I wish to mention another matter, which I think that Duncan McNeil raised.

Dr Richard Simpson (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Lab): Does the member agree that, as part of health and social care integration, it is vital that emergency plans are on GPs' records? When the individual—the parent or other adult—is admitted, it makes life a lot easier for everybody if the GP knows that they can call on an emergency care plan.

Linda Fabiani: I absolutely agree and I was going to come on to that. This is about a joined-up way of looking at health and social care. I notice that Inclusion Scotland has a concern that, because carer support plans will be statutory, they will take precedence over social care packages, which are discretionary.

We have to make sure that we really have a joined-up system that benefits the people who need it. That is very important. We started well with the integration of health and social care; here is another way that we can look at preventative measures against stress and crisis.

The other group of carers that I will bring up is one that I have fairly recent knowledge of. I had not thought this issue through before, but I have been giving it a lot of thought because of circumstances in my constituency. It is about the families of those who end up suffering from early-onset dementia.

We have to talk about dealing well with people who have dementia generally, but particular issues arise when someone has early-onset dementia. The person who is affected could be in their 40s or 50s—even in their 30s—so their partner is still working and has a career. Again, the issue is about the interaction between social care—the home care package—and the caring responsibilities that the partner, or adult children in the house, may have. We have to get that right.

We should not assume that someone will give up work to be a full-time carer. That may well not be in the best interests of the person who requires the care. A constituent said to me, "I want to take her on holiday and take her out and about. I want to be able to afford to do those things in older age through my pension, because she loves it; it gives her a great sense of wellbeing." That is hugely important.

We have to look at the needs of the person who requires care and the needs of the carer and take full account of what is best for the wellbeing of that entire family unit. I am calling for consistency in how we deal with such things and a recognition that not every case follows the textbook and can have a box ticked to say that it has been dealt with.

Another constituent of mine has caring duties for a parent who has dementia and for a child who has special needs. The on-going difficulty for her is that two branches of the same council social work department do not communicate, which means that she never gets a day off. There must be better ways of doing things, through carer support plans, although that can happen only if we know that the plans will be put in place timeously.

15:33

Jim Hume (South Scotland) (LD): The bill has the potential to improve the lives of thousands of people. We have an opportunity to change the way in which carers are regarded and supported and to make their lives, and those of the people for whom they care, easier.

Members have talked about the changing demographics in Scotland. The pensionable-age population is projected to grow by 47 per cent in some areas over the next 25 years. It is great news that people are living longer, but we need to ensure that they are healthier, too.

Carers, paid and unpaid, take on a large part of the responsibility of caring for elderly people and people with mental health problems or disabilities who are not fully capable of taking care of themselves. Nearly 800,000 carers in Scotland provide support to loved ones, at an estimated value of about £10.3 billion. The figure is made up of 745,000 adult carers and 44,000 carers who are under 18.

While it is important for care to be delivered at home and to be consistent, we need to recognise the negative effects that caring has on people. I am glad to support the principles of the bill that will provide carers with a layer of support and protection.

The Scottish health survey analysis of mental wellbeing among carers showed that mental wellbeing scores decrease as hours of care increase. With 177,000 people over the age of 16 providing more than 35 hours of care each week,

there is clearly a need to act proactively and prevent a decline in their mental wellbeing.

I look forward to seeing the successful implementation of the relevant bill provisions for adult carer support plans and young carer statements, which are a vital starting point. We have to make sure that the mental health of carers is in good condition. Unfortunately, as we know, it is not easy for people to obtain timely treatment. I have repeatedly called for preventative spending on mental health and I want to see such spending and to see relevant services and treatments available for anyone who is also a carer.

Similarly, the Coalition of Carers in Scotland warns that the waiting time for an adult carer support plan must be cut. Timescales must be spelled out and reasonable, and the plans must fulfil the purpose of supporting carers. Putting carers through completing unnecessary paperwork and more waiting time is the last thing that they need on top of all their responsibilities.

On the young carer statements, it has been mentioned that there need to be stronger systems for advocacy, redress and appeal, and young carers need to be more involved in the development of their statements—that is one of the preventative measures that we can take to ensure that young people have a say in their plans. I support other similar provisions in the bill, such as supported short breaks, replacement care and the right to advocacy, especially for young carers.

However, I am aware that a common thread of concern has been the postcode lottery for some services. Health inequalities will not reduce if we compound them with the unequal treatment of carers. Should the bill proceed, and I am sure that it will, I would like to see that we are taking the right steps to address issues such as local eligibility criteria that might undermine need because of financial restraints in an area. When we can ensure that decisions are taken locally, we must empower carers and councils to take them, but we must make sure that equality is prescribed in the law; otherwise, we risk seeing further growth in health inequalities.

Carers belong to a special group of people who we cannot allow to remain on the margins. Their concerns must be taken at face value. I hope that, when health and social care integration goes live next year, it will act as a gateway for increased involvement.

General practitioners might have a role to play through identifying carers and signposting them to services and support as a first step. I believe that that is one of the main concerns of national carer organisations and that current strategies, such as the national carers strategy, have not taken that on board yet.

Subsequently, it is useful to involve carers in NHS processes such as those for hospital admission and discharge. That saves time and money and is better for the patient. There are calls and proposals for further involvement and a responsibility on health boards to inform and involve carers in their decisions about hospital admission and discharge. It has been proven that carer involvement reduces the need for readmission, as carers know best what the person for whom they care needs in their daily life. I stress that that must include both adult carers and young carers.

Like the majority of individuals and organisations that support the principles of the bill, I just want the details to be set out at the outset. We can achieve that by taking into account the views of the numerous organisations that represent carers rights and the views of the carers parliament. I hope that the bill will proceed to stage 2, when views on how to strengthen and improve it will be welcome, and I look forward to being part of that.

15:39

Sandra White (Glasgow Kelvin) (SNP): I am pleased to speak in the debate. Although I am not a member of the committee that took evidence on the bill, it is important to me and the many groups and constituents I represent that we look at the rights of adult and young carers. As has already been said, we have an estimated 745,000 adult carers and 44,000 young carers in Scotland. I really think that it is incumbent on us as individual parliamentarians and on the Parliament as a whole to encourage and empower carers of all ages to exercise their rights.

As I said, there are an estimated 745,000 adult carers in Scotland. Although the group of adult carers on whom I want to concentrate makes up a small percentage of that number, I think—and I am sure that most people would agree—that they are an extremely important group. Linda Fabiani spoke passionately about this issue with reference to one of her constituents.

As convener of the cross-party group on older people, age and ageing, I am acutely aware of the position, to which Linda Fabiani referred, of carers who are over the age of 70, and indeed over the age of 80, and who are themselves caring for older people—some are pensioners, some are just older people and some are people with disabilities.

Rhoda Grant has been present when older carers have come along to our cross-party group to tell us about the great difficulty they have in getting care for their adult children—as Linda

Fabiani said, it does not matter what age their children are, they are still their children. It is very difficult for an older person who is caring for another older person to get care breaks or respite.

I recognise that money has been put into the reshaping care for older people change fund and, specifically, into its carer component. That has made a big difference to the many groups and projects—I will not name them—that involve carers in shaping services and developing local strategies and which generally provide a better quality of life for carers and those for whom they care.

Nanette Milne said that we really need to look at strategies. I hope that the involvement of carers—particularly the group that I am talking about—in developing strategies, which has been so successful throughout Scotland, will continue once the duty on local authorities to involve carers comes in—I am sure that it will. Will any checks and balances be put into the bill through amendments to ensure that carers continue to be involved in developing strategies in the way that they are already involved? It will be interesting to see whether such involvement continues once the duty is placed on local authorities. Perhaps the minister could cover that in his closing remarks.

Rhoda Grant mentioned the important issue of short breaks, which we always called respite—I think that they are still called that. Nanette Milne referred to the Finance Committee's comments about that. The issue involves COSLA, carers and those who are cared for. Does the minister have an update on the position? We need to find out exactly what will happen, not just to the carer who has a short break or respite, but to the people who are being cared for. The bill takes into account carers of all ages, but the issue of the small percentage—it might not be that small, in fact—of carers who are 80, 82 or even 84, which is not raised that often, should be put at the top of the agenda when we look at the respite component.

I will raise an issue that I do not think has been mentioned yet. The Smith commission recommended that the Scottish Parliament should have complete autonomy over eligibility for carers allowance. That is really important, particularly given the amendment to the Scotland Bill that has been tabled recently, which I hope would achieve that proposal—a proposal that the Scottish Government made in the first place.

I do not know whether the minister can find this out, although I am sure that we will find it out once the matter is debated at Westminster, which will happen on Monday, I think. Can we get an absolute assurance that elderly carers who are pensioners and who get benefits and other entitlements will not miss out on those entitlements because of the eligibility criteria for

the new carers allowance? It is important that everyone is entitled to that. I would not like to see a situation in which someone may lose out if they get another benefit over which we have no control. The issue may adversely affect the benefits of pensioners who care for a son or daughter who is also a pensioner. I will leave the minister with that thought.

15:45

Jackie Baillie (Dumbarton) (Lab): Other members have spent much time on particular provisions of the bill and the importance of supporting carers. I do not want to repeat what they said, but we have had powerful speeches from Duncan McNeil, Johann Lamont and others across the chamber. Instead, I want to spend my time looking at the bill's financial aspects. I do so with a genuine concern that there may be insufficient resources to meet the expectations that have rightly been raised by the bill.

I have two carers centres in my constituency—the Carers of West Dunbartonshire centre and the Helensburgh & Lomond Carers centre. Without question, both do a tremendous job. In both cases, the numbers of carers whom they support is constantly increasing.

There are about 10,000 carers who live in West Dunbartonshire—per head of population, we have the highest numbers in Scotland, according to the latest census. West Dunbartonshire also has the highest number of people per head of population with one or more long-term conditions, a high proportion of whom are carers who manage their own health alongside undertaking their caring role.

Last year, Carers of West Dunbartonshire supported 1,060 individual carers, of whom 385 were new referrals. The organisation also dealt with about 4,600 inquiries, and demand for its services is rising. Helensburgh & Lomond Carers supports 800 carers overall, and the number of new carers who registered with the organisation was 91 last year. However, we are only just halfway through this year and that number has been exceeded already, so demand for its services is also rising rapidly.

Although it is great news that both centres are reaching more carers than ever before, funding is becoming increasingly difficult. Year-to-year contracts, uncertainty about future funding sources and the consequent effect on staff retention are making things incredibly difficult for organisations that deliver for carers, and we need to find more effective ways of supporting them.

Funding for the very successful young carers initiative at the Helensburgh & Lomond Carers centre comes to an end in April 2016. The organisation has been unable to secure funding to

continue that valuable service, leaving 150 carers facing a future without that essential support.

As I understand it, and as members will be aware, carers information strategy funding finishes in March 2016. However, the information that carers centres have received suggests that funding for the bill will not kick in until 2017, and it does not take a genius to work out that there is a gap. As far as I am aware, not a great deal has been said about that, which is making people nervous about what will happen between 2016 and 2017. Core support posts for carers are funded through the strategy, and the concern on the ground is that the posts will be terminated unless transitional money is made available to bridge the gap. When the minister sums up, will he advise the chamber what provision will be in place from April 2016 to April 2017 to avoid that unnecessary and disruptive interruption to the service?

understand that the guidance accompanies the bill is likely to say that there will be money for two additional posts. The carers organisations that I have spoken to are genuinely concerned that in fact those posts are not additional. We can all agree that raising awareness will undoubtedly be one impact of the bill. However, it is just not tenable for carers organisations to cope with the rising demand that I have described with a standstill staffing assumption. It is not just that they face rising demand now, and even more so in the future; the carers with whom they deal require more contact and more intense support than before. Although the Carers (Scotland) Bill is absolutely welcome, it might be undermined if support in the community is depleted or vanishes. I would be grateful for the minister's comments on that in his closing speech.

The minister will be aware that the Finance Committee thought that there were deficiencies with the financial memorandum and that the required clarity over costs was not what we would have wished it to be. I suspect that he shared that view. When the committee suggested that a supplementary financial memorandum be brought forward between stages 2 and 3, the minister agreed. However, he then changed his mind and said that he would introduce proposals through secondary legislation to give effect to the waiving of charges and would put the financial consequences in a policy note. Members will appreciate that such an approach is without precedent.

I therefore welcome the further clarity that the minister provided in his letter to the Finance Committee on 26 October, in which he said that the cost of replacement care will be a maximum of £16 million per year from year 1 of the bill's implementation, and that the £16 million will aim to

meet the cost of any additional replacement care that is put in place to meet carers' assessed needs.

However, I confess to being confused. Am I right to assume that that money is to cover what is already in place, which is welcome, or is it about how we meet new demand? Given the minister's announcement, does he intend to bring forward a supplementary financial memorandum, and does he now not need to bother with regulations and the financial information in the policy note?

The minister said that the £16 million

"can be accommodated in the overall cost envelope ... set out in the FM."

Carers organisations are very concerned that that leaves very little remaining in the financial envelope for everything else. The national carers organisations are concerned that it takes no account of any new demand that might arise from the increased number of adults and young carers who will receive an assessment.

According to the financial memorandum, in year 1—in 2017-18—the Scottish Government anticipates spending £19 million. If the £16 million cost of replacement care is to be found from within that amount in 2017-18, that leaves a mere £3 million for everything else. I hope that the minister will tell me that I have done my sums wrong and will provide the reassurance that everyone out there is looking for.

The bill will raise awareness and expectations, but on the evidence before us there may not be sufficient resources to turn the good intentions that I know the minister has into reality. Members on all sides of the chamber have recognised the important work of carers, and we must back that up with the resources to enable carers to do their job.

15:52

Bob Doris (Glasgow) (SNP): There is a lot of good in the bill. Carers' rights will be fully enshrined in law for the first time. We are broadening and widening the definition of a carer, and easing the threshold for providing a caring role. There will be a more systematic process of assessing carers' needs and providing support for them.

We will place a statutory duty on local authorities to involve carers and their representatives in the planning and delivery of support. There will be yet further progress to expand short breaks and a break in caring for carers. That will happen, and the bill will drive progress in supporting both adult and young carers. What we are talking about this afternoon is

the extent of that progress, and the extent to which we will improve the lives of carers.

It is surely a good thing that additional moneys are being provided. The lives of carers will be improved; we are simply debating the extent to which their lives will be improved, and we should embrace that on a cross-party basis in Parliament this afternoon.

Of course there is a financial context to the bill. I will not be drawn into the yah-boo politics of yesterday and today at First Minister's questions with regard to the financial constraints on this Parliament and the cuts that are coming down the line. However, we cannot deal with the financial reality across all sectors of Government without looking at the entire funding package to Scotland from the UK. Of course it will be tough to deliver, implement and fully fund the bill, but the Scottish Government is committed to doing so and to improving the lives of carers. That is just a fact. More money is being provided: that is also a fact.

Johann Lamont, who is not in the chamber at the moment, said earlier that the needs of kinship carers had not been met. I double-checked my facts and saw that the Scottish Government announced on 10 September that £10.1 million was being given to councils to raise kinship care allowances to the same level as those for foster care, benefiting 5,200 vulnerable young children, many of whom are in the constituency that I represent, so Johann Lamont was just wrong.

Joan McAlpine (South Scotland) (SNP): Will the member take an intervention?

Bob Doris: In a moment.

I note that Jayne Baxter is in the chamber. She, too, has championed the cause of kinship carers. Undoubtedly, since 2007, when the SNP Scottish Government took office, there has been huge progress on a cross-party basis.

Joan McAlpine: Notwithstanding the member's comment about that cross-party basis, he has drawn attention to the fact that the Government has put money in place for kinship carers. However, it is my experience that some Labour councils are not taking that money and getting it to where it is supposed to go, which is to the kinship carers. Certainly, that is the case in Dumfries and Galloway. I wonder whether it is also the case with the Labour council in Glasgow.

Bob Doris: I have to say that progress has been made with the Labour council in Glasgow, which used to give no money to the kinship carers of looked-after children. Members will remember Steven Purcell; it was my intervention with him that got an allowance—£40 a week—for kinship carers for the first time in Glasgow. I agree that there is more to be done in Glasgow, but progress

has been made. Given that I might criticise the local authority later in my speech, I have to give it credit where it is making progress.

I want to look at the details of the bill now and the increase in the number of adult carer assessments and young carer support plans that will be generated by the bill. I am glad that the minister has addressed today the resourcing concerns in that regard. I am also glad that the minister's response to the Health and Sport Committee makes it clear that local authorities will be able to prioritise how quickly they address some carers' assessments and young carer support plans. We still want more detail on the expected timescales around that, but I note that the minister said that the publication of the expected timescales by each local authority will drive consistency. That might be the case, but at some point we might have to take steps to ensure consistency.

I have a suggestion in relation to the drawing up of carers' assessments. The Health and Sport Committee is currently undertaking an inquiry into palliative care. I wonder whether the minister would give consideration to ensuring that, whenever carers' assessments are drawn up, those assessing the care give cognisance to whether carers are providing palliative care that has not been identified; and to whether, if that is the case, that could drive change in that sector too. If we could do that, it would be very important.

The committee looked in some detail at eligibility criteria. I found that there was a lot of confusion among stakeholder groups about eligibility criteria, and what would be national and local. There was also confusion about what the threshold would be to receive care or care support, and what the level of care or care support would be. It was my understanding—and I think that it was the committee's-that we were not saying that every local authority in the country would provide the same level of support. The committee was looking to ensure that those with similar needs all had support provided at local authority level and that local authorities had the flexibility to prioritise the level of support that was available. Perhaps that is something that we have to look at as well.

In relation to information and advice services—this is an important point—some third sector organisations said that they were worried that the requirement for information and advice services might lead to local authorities tendering or contracting out existing contracts and undermining the third sector organisations' role. I am delighted that the minister has made it quite clear that that is not the situation and will not be the case, and that that will be clarified through a stage 2 amendment.

However, local authorities have form in that regard. This is where I will mention Glasgow City

Council, which I said earlier to Joan McAlpine I would do. Local authorities have been known to abuse Scottish Government legislation, namely the Social Care (Self-directed Support) (Scotland) Act 2013. Very vulnerable adults with learning disabilities were forced into a personalisation agenda and key services were withdrawn from them; when they were asked why, they were told that it was because of the Scottish Government's self-directed support legislation. That was just wrong. We have to ensure that there are no unintended consequences of the bill. That is why it is very important that at stage 2 the Government lodges that amendment in relation to information and advice services.

I know that lots of things regarding the bill are important, but I promise that the final thing that I would like to say is vitally important. There is much discussion about how we can better support carers in relation to hospital admissions and discharge, and about how we can ensure that they are part of the processes. However, we do not talk enough about how people who come into hospital might be carers who have yet to be identified. An admission of someone to hospital should be a trigger to identifying whether they are an unidentified carer, and a carer's assessment should be offered. We have that opportunity with the bill.

The bill will improve the lot of carers. Let us get together as a Parliament to improve and enhance the bill and deliver for carers, who do a vital job in Glasgow and right across Scotland.

16:00

Jayne Baxter (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Lab): I am not a member of the Health and Sport Committee, so I have not been involved in the detailed scrutiny of the bill, but I am very pleased to speak today about what is a very important bill. If we get it right, it has the potential to transform the lives of carers and, by association, those for whom they care across Scotland.

Estimates vary, but it is widely accepted that there are almost 800,000 carers in Scotland. According to Carers UK, the economic value of that unpaid care is in excess of £10 billion. The emotional value of such care is incalculable.

Many of us will have witnessed or indeed had our own experiences of the role that carers play. If one's friends or family were affected, few would hesitate to help. However, the responsibility of caring for a vulnerable person often goes way beyond helping. It can be more demanding and stressful and go on for much longer than carers can manage without additional support. The care that is needed and provided is vital and is too often not apparent to others. As a consequence,

the value of that care is not always recognised. Too often, support service providers do not even know that someone is a carer. People often care for loved ones alone, with little or no external support or engagement with support services. We need to identify carers at the earliest possible stage, so that they know what support is available to them. It is common for carers who have additional support needs not to be identified as such.

Underpinning how we can change that for the better is the importance of the NHS in preparing carer strategies. The NHS can provide a great deal of support for not just the person who is being cared for but carers themselves. Far too often, however, carers are not aware of the support that is available to them. In the interests of both the cared-for person and the carer, the centrality of the NHS to supporting care and carers needs to be formally recognised in the bill.

In considering the issue of carers being invisible, I want to say something about young carers. Ever since I was a councillor in Fife, I have supported the campaign to recognise the important role that is played by those young people. I did not have much experience of them when I became a councillor, but Fife Council ran an awareness-raising campaign for staff and councillors. The council knew that, although it was likely that there were thousands of young carers in Fife, very few of them were known to the services that could support them. Although young carers have a right to privacy of course, it is important that they realise that they are not alone, they have rights and there are services and people who will help them. We have to encourage young people who have caring responsibilities to come forward and we have to train the staff who work with young people to learn how to recognise the signals that a young person might be a carer, and then to respond appropriately to the impact that those caring duties may be having on the young person's quality of schooling or personal development. I was struck by how isolating being a carer must be for many young people and how we all can and should do better to change that situation.

This year, I had the privilege of working with the Carers Trust and young adult carers to launch their going higher campaign to extend a similar approach throughout colleges and universities. As I said at the launch of the campaign, it seems perfectly reasonable that educational institutions would adopt a person-centred approach to ensure that everyone fulfils their potential. We should do the same, as a Parliament and as a society. The starting point has to be the situation facing each carer, and from that we must put together the right package of support.

This bill as it stands is a good starting point. It aims to provide a framework for recognising and supporting carers and to improve identification of adult carers and young carers. It places duties on local authorities to support carers, develop and publish local carer strategies, make provision for carer involvement and provide information and advice services to all carers. However, many of the briefings that I have read argue that the bill does not go far enough, or that it does not offer enough detail. There are concerns about the lack of timescales for the production of adult carer support plans, about the inconsistencies and the potential for a postcode lottery in the eligibility criteria for carer support, and about the levels of finance and choice to be provided for respite short breaks.

It is clear that what is needed is a coherent, multi-agency approach for most carers. I do not think that anyone disagrees about that need, which has been discussed many times in the Parliament, but I sincerely hope that the bill will go further, as it proceeds, and foster such an approach across Scotland. Currently, it focuses excessively on the responsibilities of local authorities and insufficiently on what the NHS and other agencies including the third sector can do in addition to and in collaboration with local authorities.

It is right for the Parliament to support the bill at stage 1, but it is essential that, at future stages, the Scottish Government listens closely to the concerns that are raised by groups that represent carers, as well as by individual carers, to ensure that the bill takes a meaningful step towards improving circumstances for carers and those they care for. If the Government does not do that, the bill could be another missed opportunity.

16:06

Willie Coffey (Kilmarnock and Irvine Valley) (SNP): I feel privileged to be allowed to speak in the debate. As usual, I start by commending my colleagues on the Health and Sport Committee for the good work that they have carried out and for their comprehensive stage 1 report on the Carers (Scotland) Bill.

I also welcome the detailed and supportive responses from the Minister for Sport, Health Improvement and Mental Health in his reply to the committee. He can correct me if I am wrong, but I counted at least six commitments to amend the bill at stage 2 after some lengthy and heartfelt evidence was given to the committee by stakeholders along the way. Also, a number of commitments were made to provide additional guidance, alongside the bill, to deal with the many clarifications that were sought by the committee on behalf of those who gave evidence. Like some

other members who have spoken, I am not a member of the committee, but I hope that I will do justice to the work that others have done.

The bill is really about caring for the carers, and it sets out where we think help is most needed and where the most positive interventions might take place. I like the comment in the policy memorandum that the bill's objective is to "make real" the Scottish Government's ambition for Scotland's adult and young carers to be

"better supported on a more consistent basis so that they can continue to care ... in good health and to have a life alongside caring."

What a lovely way of simplifying the bill.

Johann Lamont: Does the member agree that, to make it real, which is something that we all aspire to, we have to get the money right, too? Does he share the concerns that have been expressed about the potential gap between our aspiration and the funding that is going to underpin it?

Willie Coffey: Absolutely. Of course we do. The issues about finance and resources are well covered in the committee's report and I am pretty sure that the minister will refer to them in his summing up.

The need

"to have a life alongside caring"

is too often overlooked or ignored, and sometimes it is not even recognised by carers, as a few members have mentioned today.

As I read through the report, it became clear to me that the bill sets out a carer's journey and that we can and should help along the way, from recognising the role of our younger carers and the help that they need from their schools right through to the possible end of a carer's responsibilities through choice or circumstances. The bill and the committee recognise the important issues that we need to provide for.

Tonight is Guy Fawkes night, and thousands of carers across Scotland will be out there making sure that a loved one is enjoying the night at one of the many fireworks displays that will take place—I recommend the display at Kilmarnock's Kay park, which will attract more than 30,000 people—or caring for a loved one at home and possibly missing out. That is why I was drawn initially to the committee's comments on providing short breaks for our carers. It is so important to provide short breaks, even for a couple of hours, as the witnesses highlighted. I note that the minister agreed to clarify what "short breaks" means in response to the committee's request.

Short breaks are not new, but if we can build in a mechanism that formalises them, it will mean that carers will not need to feel guilty about taking a break and those who are cared for will no longer need to feel guilty either, if their carer was previously unable to get one. A recognised short break is simple enough but very important. It helps to remove that problem and helps us progress the aim in the bill of supporting a life alongside caring.

I was staggered to read that the number of young carers in Scotland is thought to be more than 40,000, with a suggestion that it could even be as high as 100,000. Those giving evidence asked for more work to be done to identify our young carers, especially those at school, many of whom probably do not recognise that they are even performing the role. Often, those young carers need only a little bit of information and advice and a little flexibility when it comes to school timetables and attendance. They also asked that we should do our best to identify those young carers before any crises develop. Schools have a crucial role to play in that, and that too is acknowledged by the minister's intention to set that out in guidance in relation to the development of our local carer strategies.

I would be interested to know whether any research has been done on the impact that caring has on the educational attainment of young carers and on what proportion of them move on to further and higher education. However, that is for another day.

The potential confusion in having the proposed young carer statement and a child's plan was raised, but I think that the minister explained that well. As I understand it, the carers statement is about identifying specific support needs for the carer and the triggers for intervention, whereas the plan is an overarching summary of that.

There was a concern about the overlap between a young person's role as a carer and the named person proposals, and the possible unintended intrusion that that might cause if a young carer had not consented to any interventions. The minister has recognised that and has agreed to remove that possibility from the bill at stage 2.

When young carers reach the age of 18 and begin to make their transition to adulthood, they will begin to interact with adult services in respect of their caring role. Clearly, many young people will want to move on and cease their caring role in order to progress their own lives, and I simply note the sensitive way that that is discussed in the committee's paper and the minister's recognition of the need to support such a process.

It has been a privilege to be able to take part in this important debate and to highlight for the public the many positive steps that are being taken by the Scottish Government to recognise the invaluable work that is carried out by Scotland's carers. We care about their quality of life and their right to live their own lives in good health and have a life alongside caring.

I commend the work of the committee, the witnesses and the Scottish Government and look forward to the progress of the bill and to it becoming law.

16:12

Joan McAlpine (South Scotland) (SNP): | support the bill as a continuation of the considerable progress that has been made by Scotland in recognising and supporting carers in recent years. I particularly congratulate the minister on listening to the people, particularly Enable, who want the bill to ensure that emergency planning is discussed as part of the carer planning process. The minister will recall that I have spoken to him and his team about that on several occasions, so I share Enable's delight in the success of its campaign. My sister has Down's syndrome and is cared for by my elderly mother, and I know from their experience and from the experience of friends and other attendees at my sister's day centre that it is a very importantperhaps the most important—issue that concerns older carers in particular.

The important statistical information that was published this spring, which was based on 2011 census returns, showed that the age group in which people are most likely to be carers is the 55 to 64 age group. However, it is not unusual, particularly with regard to learning disability, dementia and end-of-life care, for the carer to be in their 70s or 80s.

An example of the difference that an emergency plan can make is the case of Jeanette, which was highlighted by Enable in the course of the campaign. Jeanette looked after her daughter Vanessa, who has learning disabilities, but had no emergency plan in place until after she had to go into hospital for a knee replacement. Some time after she was discharged, she had an awful experience when she collapsed at home in the early hours. However, because she had a written emergency plan in place, the emergency services were able to consult the plan, contact the right respondent and get the right care in place for Vanessa. Jeanette said afterwards:

The fact that Jeanette had that experience and was supported by her local authority draws attention to the fact that good services are already provided, but we need the bill to ensure that such provision becomes consistent across the country.

I also welcome the moves by the minister to prioritise plans for people who care for individuals who have a terminal illness, and I support the calls from Marie Curie and from other members that general practitioners should be involved in identifying carers who are in such circumstances. I am also very sympathetic to calls for carers' views to be considered when discharge plans are being put in place by hospitals.

As the co-convener of the cross-party group on carers, I draw attention to the briefing from the national carer organisations, which welcome the bill but have certain asks in order to strengthen it. In my role as the co-convener of the cross-party group, I will put those asks on the record. They ask for the following: a redefinition of outcomes to acknowledge that carers have the right to a life outside caring; for national eligibility criteria; for a short-breaks duty to be placed on local authorities; for it to be ensured that replacement care is properly funded; for it be ensured that support services in the third sector and public sector are prepared for the additional demands that will be placed on them as more carers identify themselves and seek help; for a duty on the NHS to involve carers in discharge plans, which I have mentioned; for a statutory right to advocacy; and finally for a statement on equality.

Time restrictions mean that I cannot go into all those in detail, and I am aware of the cost constraints that mean that not every one of them will be delivered. However, if I had to single out one of those asks, it would be the request for nationally defined eligibility criteria. In mv experience. among carers and representatives there is passionate opposition to locally defined eligibility criteria, and they are consistent in their demands for consistency. In my opinion, the big three asks from carers organisations to strengthen the bill are emergency plans, the waiving of charges and national eligibility criteria. I welcome the fact that the first two of those big three asks are being addressed by the minister in his stage 2 amendments, and I ask him not to rule out similar measures to address the third.

I am aware that the Health and Sport Committee is sympathetic to both local authorities and carer organisations with regard to eligibility criteria, as it states in its stage 1 report. I note, too, that the minister, in his reply to the committee, says that, in 2016 and 2017, before the bill is commenced, the Scottish Government will work with COSLA, local authorities, the national carer organisations and carers themselves to share ideas and views about eligibility criteria. However, we have heard examples from members across the chamber of variation in services. There are some excellent services, as I have outlined in the case of Jeanette, but other members have mentioned their

constituents' poor experiences. The bill exists because of the patchiness in approach; we are legislating to address that. Therefore, it could be argued that nationally defined criteria for eligibility would be an extension of the general principles of the bill, which is why I think that the proposal should not be ruled out.

16:18

Dr Richard Simpson (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Lab): I am glad to join other members in speaking in the debate, although I am no longer a member of the Health and Sport Committee. Although I commend the bill's intentions, I find myself once again questioning a bill that has been introduced. Carers deserve not just warm words, but detailed commitments, but once again we have a bill without draft regulations, although the regulations will be critical to delivery of the bill's aims.

In hustings for the 2011 election that were attended by carers, I promised that if Scottish Labour formed the Government I would seek to ensure that our priorities matched those of carers. Labour had already sought to make it possible for carers to seek an assessment of their own health, which is fundamental and should not be a one-off event but a continuing process. A carer who is looking after a person with a deteriorating condition such as dementia is likely to face increasing challenges that make their own health more vulnerable.

Although the support plan helps, the thresholds, nature and extent are unclear. Concerns about a postcode lottery on thresholds are valid, as is concern about the length of time it takes for an assessment to be undertaken. That does not relate just to terminal care.

As the Health and Sport Committee has indicated, respite is another issue. Respite can mean many different things, from a period of a week or more to an hour or two a week. There needs to be clarity on thresholds, as well as minimum standards.

The committee is right to express its concern about provision in relation to terminal illness. That requires priority. One cannot wait when one gets into a terminal-illness situation; one needs action immediately.

The agreement to ensure that all carers who want one will have an emergency plan was one of the most significant asks in 2011. It led me, at First Minister's question time, to ask the then First Minister, Alex Salmond, why that was not occurring. He undertook that it would occur. It is a pity that, three years on, we are still just talking about legislation. Linda Fabiani referred to parents of adults with learning difficulties. I cannot understand how anyone listening to carers who

are growing old and have to look after their adult children would not hear their anxiety about what will happen if they have an emergency.

I have current family experience in dementia care. The social worker and carer support have both been very helpful, but my relative—the prime carer—is uncertain about whether a recent week's respite care will be charged for or free. She simply cannot find out.

There are other areas of vagueness. There is an absolute need for carers to be advised of discharge from hospital and to be involved in admission. That is, of course, a requirement where there is formal incapacity, but in the case of patients with capacity, it must be addressed on a consensual basis. A recent Scottish study showed that 50 per cent of patients with a previous diagnosis of dementia before admission do not have that critical fact recorded on their notes. Too often, carers feel excluded by a medicalised process. As far as discharge is concerned, notification must be not just a general intention, but must be detailed. Never again can we have in the press reports such as that about a blind man being discharged in the middle of the night without knowing whether there would be relatives at home. Such situations are unacceptable.

The role of GPs in the new integrated world that we all seek remains unclear. Their knowledge and role is important. Where is the support for groups such as the Edinburgh north-west personal medical services group? Yesterday, I attended a meeting of the group. Representatives of 12 of 16 practices were able to be there, along with practice managers and various NHS Lothian staff. The group has link workers to undertake detailed assessment as part of post-diagnosis in dementia—an area that general practice has been tasked with. The quality of the carer and patient experience is measurably improved. That is an example of how a cluster in a new contract, in the new world that the Government is now beginning to accept, could work. I commend the work of the group to the minister.

We also heard reports from Muirhouse practice, which has established an effective computer-based signposting and information service for national and local support for carers. It is not rocket science, but it requires administrative support so that it does not have to be done on the basis of individual practices. As Graeme Dey said, at a time when general practice is under stress, the Government has a duty to make its intentions much clearer, not just on requirements but on resources. On finance, I do not believe that even the adjusted financial memorandum bears scrutiny. As I understand it, the £16 million is not new money, so what is it?

On dementia, there is a substantial drive for early diagnosis and first-year post-diagnostic support. If that is tied in to robust delivery of the aspirations in the bill, we can hope that fewer individuals will require institutional care, which would ameliorate some of the growing pressures on the NHS.

As in almost every intervention that I make in Parliament on matters of health and social care, I call for robust monitoring not only of the process but the outcomes. Who will undertake that role? Will it be the Care Inspectorate? What work has already been done on the elements that should be reported? Carers should not have to resort to their MSPs when their needs are unmet, so the right to advocacy is an important part of ensuring that issues can be resolved early.

However, I repeat that the landscape on comments, concerns and interventions from individuals when they have problems is incredibly cluttered. There is a vital need to align the Patient Rights (Scotland) Act 2011 feedback sections to the social care system. If that is not done, carers will not be able to contest their assessment, the timing of matters or all the other issues that colleagues have rightly mentioned.

The general principles of the bill are welcome. As always, the Government's aspirations are welcome, but if they are to be fulfilled, the detail—the draft regulations on many aspects, the system of monitoring and the financing—must be much clearer before Parliament passes the bill at stage 3.

The Deputy Presiding Officer (Elaine Smith): I have a few minutes left in hand, so I can give Mr Lyle up to seven minutes and then have one extra minute each for the closing speakers.

16:25

Richard Lyle (Central Scotland) (SNP): It is almost a pleasure to follow Dr Richard Simpson and respond to his comments. The SNP Government has a strong record on supporting health in Scotland and I am sure that it will continue to do everything in its power to ensure that the people of Scotland have access to the best healthcare that is available and to ensure that no group of people is overlooked when it comes to health.

As we adapt to having an ageing population, the role of carers will become even more important, so there is an overwhelming economic, social and moral case for continuing to improve the services that are offered to them. The Carers (Scotland) Bill will for the first time enshrine in law the rights of carers. It proposes a range of measures to improve and expand support for carers. Therefore,

it is important to hear some of the key facts and stories about our carers in Scotland.

There are an estimated 745,000 adult carers and about 44,000 young carers in Scotland. The value of the care that they provide is estimated to be around £10.3 billion each year. However, it tends to be overlooked that caring can have a detrimental impact on the health and wellbeing of a carer, which can consequently affect the quality of care that the person who is being cared for receives. Caring can intensify pre-existing health problems in carers or even lead to new ones. It is estimated that around 32 per cent of carers have indicated that caring has a negative impact on their health. Research has shown that the most common health effects are psychological.

It is not morally acceptable to allow someone who provides care to another human being to suffer on their own. That is why the Government has placed the issue at the forefront of the First Minister's programme for government and has invested about £114 million—more than ever—in programmes to support carers. It is also why we need to address the issue here and now.

Recently, I heard a story about a man named Ronnie, who has cared for his wife for the past 15 years. She needs 24-hour care, so he gave up his job 12 years ago to look after her full time. When he was asked what we could do to help him, he replied:

"There's not enough recognition of what a carer does."

Where have we heard that before? When he filled in forms, there was no category "full-time carer". He said that

"no-one understands what that is."

Stories like Ronnie's are why the Scottish Government should place, and will place, the needs of carers at the heart of the devolved carers allowance. Carers sacrifice much for the betterment of others and now they are suffering. We cannot sit on the sidelines and let them suffer any longer. The bill that we are debating aims to improve support, and to provide greater support, to carers.

At present, the law considers a carer to be someone

"who provides, or intends to provide, a substantial amount of care on a regular basis to a person aged 18 or over"

and for whom the local authority provides community care services. The bill will broaden the definition of carer to encompass more people who go unrecognised as carers, so that they get the recognition that they deserve. To accomplish that goal, it will remove the requirement for care to be substantial and regular.

The bill will place on local authorities a duty to prepare a support plan for anyone who identifies themselves as a carer or any carer who requests one. Such support is something that many carers drastically need, and it is our job to ensure that they receive it.

Young carers are a shining beacon among the incredible young people we have here in Scotland. Young carers are those who are under the age of 18 or who are 18 and are still at school. It is the Government's responsibility to make sure that they are looked after. It is my firm belief that we must do everything in our power to protect the wellbeing of young carers.

Under the current legislation, if the young carer's needs can be addressed through the normal course of things—for example, by their parents or by mainstream services—there is no need for a support plan. That is unacceptable, and I am pleased to say that the bill addresses that issue. Under one of its proposals, the bill will give a responsible authority a duty to prepare a young carer statement for anyone it believes to be a young carer and for any young carer who requests one. That will improve access to support for young carers and it will, it is hoped, prevent the escalation of caring needs.

As I near the end of my reflections on carers in Scotland, I want to highlight one more story from the Carers Trust that I read. I also recommend that all my colleagues-if they have not already done so-take the time to read and learn about more of the touching stories about carers throughout the UK. This story is about a 14-year-old girl who is caring for her eight-year-old brother, who suffers from a very rare genetic condition. The girl lives with her mum and her brother, so it can be hard for her mum to get all the jobs done around the house. The girl can no longer live a normal childhood. It was not her choice to live this life, but it is the life that she lives. She talks about how, when she talks to people such as doctors and social workers, some of them do not listen to her because of her age. I am here today, along with members across the chamber, to say to that young girl, "The Scottish Parliament is here and we are listening to you."

I want to conclude by again highlighting some of the bill's key points. It will enshrine carers' rights in law for the first time in Scotland and it will ensure that carers will be protected from being charged for the support that they receive. The Scottish Government will seek to amend the bill to enshrine emergency planning in the care plan process. I am sure that the Government is committed to ensuring that we look after our carers. All the comments that other members have made aside, let us appreciate carers' tireless efforts. In every aspect,

carers are true heroes, and I commend all of them for all the work that they do each and every day.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: We come to the closing speeches.

16:33

Jackson Carlaw (West Scotland) (Con): It has been a very interesting and well-informed debate, in which all the pertinent questions have been asked in some very well-targeted and passionate speeches. There have been quite a lot of calls for change. Often in the Parliament, that presages a partisan debate, but I do not get any sense of that at all. It seems to me that the minister recognises that the bill is an important one that is a work in progress, and I hope that he will be open to considering and incorporating—in addition to the amendments that he has already identified will be made—some of those the cases for which have been made powerfully in the debate.

It is interesting that the debate is taking place on the same day that the British Medical Association has published its manifesto for Scotland. Right at the start of that, the BMA talks about the population challenge. I think that that underpinned one of the key points that Jackie Baillie made, which was to do with the question of what we are setting in train now and whether we will have the resource to fund it as the population continues to change.

All of us who debate health matters regularly know that it is clear that the profile of the population of Scotland has changed dramatically. It is clear that, 100 years ago, Scotland was a young country. It is hard to imagine that older people were the exception, not the rule. However, we now see an enormous increase in the number of elderly people. As Jim Hume said, we can celebrate that, but nonetheless that brings with it challenges for the future. As we look forward, there will be an even greater concentration of elderly people.

We have talked before about how we have moved from the experience of the provision of care in a family being an exception to its being something that nearly all of us now have first-hand experience of. That will become more common, not less so.

Johann Lamont said:

"a right that is unenforceable is unacceptable".

That was very powerful. We have embarked on huge and important social legislation in the chamber before, whether for free transport for the elderly or free personal care for the elderly, which we are funding, but at a rate that is far greater than anybody envisaged when we began. When we commence the important changes for carers, it

is therefore important that we know that we are putting in place a mechanism by which they can be properly and effectively realised not only now, but as we go forward.

In identifying the various amendments, the minister gave quite a technical speech. However, Duncan McNeil brought the debate very much back to the very personal role of carers; in fact, Richard Lyle ended the debate in exactly the same way. Duncan McNeil made points about the endof-life carer assessment, the priority that may need to be attached to that—albeit that I accept Richard Simpson's more general point, as well-and the emergency planning arrangements. He welcomed additional services not being required unless they are absolutely needed, and he brought focus on discharge and admissions, which Richard Simpson gave a stark example of in his contribution. Those remain areas in which considerable work is still to be done.

I very much appreciated Rhoda Grant's contribution, particularly on post-carer support. The reality is that, although we say that we want to ensure that the opportunities of young carers are not in any way compromised by the role that they take on as carers, which they feel that they have to take on-I have an experience of that in my own family—those opportunities are compromised. We simply cannot have a young person going into further education and suddenly being brought into a domestic situation to provide concentrated care for a relative without that having an impact on their potential opportunities when they become postcarer individuals. It is very important that we try to find a way of building into our thinking how we will give post-carer support to individuals in order that they are able to resume their lives and make full use of and exploit all the potential opportunities that they have, which may have been set to one side at the time. It is not good enough just to say that. The reality is that that is happening, and we have to address that.

Graeme Dey was interesting when he gave the example of GP practices identifying potential carers. My colleague Margaret Mitchell wanted me to highlight the practice in a Motherwell general practice, which now has automatic flagging of carers so that, if a carer presents, any GP is stimulated to check how their health is.

I have already mentioned Johann Lamont's thoughtful speech, which included some very well-focused questions. She raised an important point about the bureaucracy that underpins the opportunities for people to get minor respite and the desire that there should be to offer that much more readily.

Linda Fabiani introduced the issue of earlyonset dementia. That was something of a digression, but it was important nonetheless. The Public Petitions Committee has been dealing with that issue over a considerable period of time. More recently, the Cabinet Secretary for Health, Wellbeing and Sport said that she was looking at proposals that she hopes to bring before Parliament in the new year. We look forward to hearing those proposals.

My goodness—Jackie Baillie has certainly carried a load for the Labour Party this week. She was the voice of reason on Tuesday and a partisan turn in a good old tribal way yesterday. Today, she used her forensic skills on a whole series of issues that relate to finance. I hope that the minister will respond to those points. Mr Coffey said that he was very confident that he would do so. Like me, he must have seen the blizzard of communications that came from the officials down to Mr Hepburn following Ms Baillie's speech. I am therefore very confident that those financial questions will be answered.

We have a bill for which there is a tremendous amount of good will across the chamber. Concerns have been expressed that must be addressed, and I am confident that they probably will be. As the bill leaves Parliament and becomes a legal entitlement, it is important that its financial underpinning is robust and that it looks to the future as well as to today. Otherwise, we will be looked upon as people who had rather rose-tinted spectacles regarding how such things would operate, and who did not put in place the provision to ensure that they would be effective.

16:40

Neil Findlay (Lothian) (Lab): Caring is something that we all do. Even as cold, stone-hearted politicians, we have some care within us—at least I hope so when I look around the chamber. We do that whether it is for our children, our friends, our grandparents, our neighbours or our mums and dads. We all show that love and affection and perform our duty, hopefully as members of a civilised society, through our friendship, compassion and care for those who need our help. We see that in our communities and around us every day and every week.

That care can be expressed in many different ways. It might be a simple thing, such as someone occasionally dropping in to check that their neighbour is okay, driving a parent to a day centre or pensioners group, providing a daily meal or taking a friend to hospital or a doctor's appointment. Those are acts of care that we all do and see regularly.

However, for many people—many of our family, friends and neighbours—caring is a commitment that requires much more than that. It requires a dedication that is often full time. Duncan McNeil

eloquently described the consequences of such a level of commitment for those people who perform that role. Several members have mentioned the number of carers involved, which is quite an astronomical figure. Almost 800,000 Scots provide that caring role.

I was very pleased that Johann Lamont mentioned young carers. The example that I mentioned earlier about the young girl in my class at school will live with me for some time. That young girl clearly lacked confidence, she was pretty anonymous in the class and she sank into the background, not saying very much. No wonder she never said very much—what she was doing at home was taking up all her efforts and energy. The fact that I, as her teacher, did not know that, was shameful. That revealed a breakdown in the system, which should have alerted me or any other teacher who went into the class, whether for one day or for the rest of the year.

Those carers do not need or, I believe, want our sympathy or our warm words. They need and want our support, in both deed and budget. As many members have said, it is estimated that there is a huge financial value—up to £10 billion, which is a remarkable figure—in the amount of care that is provided. We need to invest to ensure that people get a fair deal for that, and that they get the support that they and the people they care for deserve.

All that comes at a cost to the carers themselves. As Jim Hume mentioned, there are effects on people's psychological wellbeing, with problems of mental ill-health, anxiety and a lack of confidence and self-esteem. Carers are also more likely to be in debt, to have to leave their job or to require reduced hours, all because of the pressures of having to juggle a job and caring responsibilities. All that adds a huge strain to their wellbeina emotional and their relationships. For those and many other reasons, carers require our help and support and the help and support of the communities that they live in.

Given the vital role that carers play in our communities, any bill to help carers would be welcomed. However, some serious questions have been asked today about the substance of the bill, and about how it will help and improve the daily realities that are faced by carers. Those questions must be answered.

As Richard Simpson said, there is a real concern about the lack of regulations that accompany the bill. Jackie Baillie mentioned many of the points that the minister and his team will have to answer.

Of course, everyone will support the proposal for carer plans; it is hardly controversial. Ensuring that there is a support plan that identifies the needs of carers is a good thing. On the passage of the bill, we would like that provision to be implemented without delay. However, the adult carer support plan and the young carer statement will be worth more than the paper that they are written on only if they are followed through, with support being put in place and fully financed so that the plans become a reality. We can write up as many plans as we like and stick them in a cupboard, but if they do not mean anything for the people who need our assistance it will hardly have been worth the effort.

Issues around the eligibility criteria—at national or local level—will be debated during the bill process. Some people suggest national criteria; others suggest local criteria. Whichever they are, the criteria must be effective and allow flexibility to meet local needs while ensuring that people can get equal access.

Bob Doris: Neil Findlay makes a very thoughtful point regarding national and local eligibility criteria, although there has been confusion about what different people in the carer sector mean by that. He mentioned equal access. Was he talking about equal access as a trigger for when carer support needs must be met by a local authority, or did he mean equality in provision? Obviously, those are two very different things. Equality of provision does not necessarily allow that local discretion.

Neil Findlay: I think that the people on the ground want to ensure that they have equal access to what they actually receive. Ultimately, that is what they want; they want to receive an improved service. We can debate whether that would be better done nationally or locally, but what ends up happening in those people's lives is most important.

Plans that incorporate education and training are a good thing. I am very positive about the role of advocacy and counselling, and income maximisation is a huge issue. Those are all very relevant to the lives of people who are carers. Much of that support should be being provided already but cannot be because such things cost money. We cannot provide such services on fresh air and crossed fingers on a steeply declining budget in local government.

The main concerns are about the financial provisions in the bill, as Rhoda Grant, Johann Lamont, Jackie Baillie and other members said. The bill will place additional duties and responsibilities on councils. Assessments alone will cost money and will need to be fully funded, but the consequences of assessment will place additional funding pressures on councils that are already at breaking point. Councils are not just down to the bone but well through the marrow and almost out the other side. The social care system,

social work departments and support workers are drowning under intense pressure, while budget cuts year on year threaten the services that civilise us as a society.

Jackson Carlaw talked about good practice in Motherwell. Good practice is going on and is welcome but at times that is happening despite the system, not because of it. My local authority, West Lothian Council, has had £89 million taken from it in the past six or seven years. Its budget is only £400 million but it has lost £89 million.

If there is not full funding for what the bill proposes and funding to replace what we have already lost, how can we provide the support services that carers, people who are cared for and their families need? Councils across Scotland are staring at more job losses and more service cuts. The Scottish Government has to get real about the crisis in local government finance; it has to stop pretending that that crisis will somehow go away and that we can give councils more responsibility while giving them less money.

A vital area that members mentioned is breaks. The debate on the issue will continue as the bill progresses through Parliament.

Members mentioned their local carers organisations, and I put on record my support for Carers of West Lothian, which has just moved into new premises. The organisation has helped thousands of carers across the county.

We will of course support the bill, but as it goes through the parliamentary process it must be strengthened and the financial issues must be resolved. As Johann Lamont said, a right is not a right if it is not enforceable. I whole-heartedly agree with her.

16:50

Jamie Hepburn: I thank all members for their contributions. This has been a very thoughtful debate. I agree with Jackson Carlaw that the debate has been very good, although I will try to be a little less technical in my summation than I was in my opening remarks. In the 10 minutes or so that is available to me, I am unlikely to be able to respond to every point that has been made, so I apologise for that in advance, but I will try to respond to as many points as I can.

The Government's vision is for a flourishing, optimistic and innovative Scotland, and tackling inequalities and promoting equality of opportunity remain our major challenge. We want a Scotland where people have control over their lives and are empowered to make choices. Scotland's carers have to be involved in that. I am sure that that is a common aspiration for us all.

In his thoughtful opening remarks, Duncan McNeil made the point that caring can be life affirming, but it can also have a negative impact on some carers. Whatever the circumstances, carers should enjoy the same opportunities in life as people who do not have caring responsibilities and they should be able to achieve their full potential as citizens. Linda Fabiani gave the example of people who are carers and who might need to be supported to stay in employment. The Carers (Scotland) Bill should work to support carers and better enable them to maintain a life alongside caring.

Rhoda Grant spoke of individual carers having differing needs. I agree with that, and it is why our approach has to be person centred. Rhoda Grant also made the fundamentally important point that carers must have the choice to care, and I also agree with that. That is why, as well as identifying a carer's personal outcomes and needs, information about the extent to which the carer is willing and able to provide care should be in any adult carer support plan and young carer statement.

We have introduced the bill because we want to accelerate the pace of change and build on what has already been achieved. As I said in my opening speech, the bill introduces a number of provisions that are aimed at achieving the vision of supporting carers having a life alongside caring by extending their rights in law.

Johann Lamont: On the point about carers being entitled to a life outwith their carer role, and my point about people falling out of work because of lack of flexibility, what discussions has the minister had with the Cabinet Secretary for Fair Work, Skills and Training about the role of the fair work convention and whether any input on the needs of carers is being recognised in any discussion about what work should look like and how people can be supported?

Jamie Hepburn: I have no doubt that the fair work convention will consider the role of carers, but I am happy to explore that further with ministerial colleagues. The point that I am making here is that each carer is an individual human being and the assessment should be focused on their individual circumstances. If support to maintain employment is an assessed need, it should be contained in the assessment.

I welcome the universal support for the bill that has been expressed today. A number of members have suggested that we need to change the bill to improve it. During my time in the Parliament, I cannot remember a single bill that has stayed the same as it was when it was introduced. I have already committed to some changes and I hope that I have demonstrated my willingness to continue to consider and accommodate further

changes. Jackson Carlaw picked up my demeanour correctly; I am open to listening to any amendments that might be suggested and if I agree with them and think that they will be effective, I will support them.

Sandra White picked up on carer involvement in local carer strategies. Carer involvement runs throughout the bill and it contains a specific duty to take steps to involve carers when preparing and reviewing any local carer strategy. The provision is also contained in regulations under the Public Bodies (Joint Working) (Scotland) Act 2014. The point is fundamental.

Some members talked about their concern about the impact of an increase in demand that is associated with the widening of the definition of a carer. Johann Lamont and Nanette Milne picked up on that. However, the increase in demand will be accompanied by a more streamlined assessment process to develop the adult carer support plan and young carer statement, and additional resources for local authorities will accompany the bill.

Rhoda Grant asked whether there could be a role for the third sector carers centres in particular to be involved in the assessment process. There is nothing in the bill to prevent that approach; indeed, we want to see innovation in this area.

Duncan McNeil and others raised issues to do with local eligibility criteria. I reassert that we will ensure that local eligibility criteria are informed by regulations-there will be national matters that steer local criteria—and I will work with carers organisations to inform those regulations. Duncan McNeil said that if we continue with the approach that we have set out in the bill, an assessment of the efficacy of that approach will be important. Neil Findlay made the important point that the key issue is that the approach has to be effective. As I set out in my response to the Health and Sport Committee's stage 1 report, the arrangements for monitoring and assessing the implementation of the bill, including support provided to carers under local eligibility criteria, will be agreed with COSLA, individual local authorities, the national carers organisations and other key interests.

Linda Fabiani and Richard Simpson raised the issue of emergency planning and future planning. I agree that that is very important to carers, which is why I will lodge an amendment at stage 2 to provide that information about emergency planning must be contained in the adult carer support plan or the young carer statement. I recognise the particular importance of future planning to older carers. Sandra White spoke about older carers' needs in her contribution. I intend to lodge an amendment to provide that the information and advice service must provide information about future planning as well as

emergency planning. I will consider carefully how that information is shared with general practitioners, which Richard Simpson mentioned.

Johann Lamont raised issues to do with kinship carers. The bill will apply to kinship carers. Bob Doris made a point about the funding that has been agreed with COSLA and is in place to support parity between kinship carer and foster carer allowances.

Duncan McNeil, Sandra White and Rhoda Grant raised issues to do with short breaks. I assure Duncan McNeil that the process for consultation on and scrutiny of the regulations that we put in place will be as important to me as it is to him. I want us to get that right. Rhoda Grant asked what can constitute a short break. We need to be flexible, because short breaks can constitute a great many things; they can mean different things to different people. I agree with the point that the Health and Sport Committee made in its stage 1 report that guidance regarding the provision of short breaks should make clear

"the importance of ensuring short breaks are tailored to the needs of the carer."

Graeme Dey and Nanette Milne raised the issue of the transition from the caring role when it ends, which I know is an issue of importance to Marie Curie. I recognise that it can be difficult—even devastating—for an individual when their caring role comes to an end. The bill deliberately focuses on providing access to an adult carer support plan or a young carer statement in order to sustain the caring role, but I am of course aware that some local carers centres continue to support carers after their caring role ends. Graeme Dey and Johann Lamont spoke about good work in their areas in that regard. I would be very happy to explore how good practice on this issue can be shared in guidance.

Graeme Dey, Jim Hume and Nanette Milne raised the issue of timescales and asked why there is no national limit on the time taken to prepare an adult carer support plan or young carer statement. I agree that it is important for carers to have an indication of how long it might take to prepare an adult carer support plan or a young carer statement, which is why I have made provision requiring each local authority to set out the intended timescales for preparing such plans or statements as part of their local carer strategy. I hear the calls for us to look at that further and I am very happy to consider any proposal that is brought forward at a subsequent stage.

Jackie Baillie: I am conscious that time is running out and that there were substantial financial questions that carers organisations wanted answered.

Jamie Hepburn: I hope that I have addressed some of those substantive issues. I am also conscious of time and I will try to get on with this as quickly as I can.

We have moved in relation to the timescales for preparing plans for those caring for the terminally ill. We set out that matter in our response to the stage 1 report. I will not have time to respond to the issues about the named person and discharge, but I am happy to respond further at another time.

On the financial issues, which Jackie Baillie was driving at, let me be clear that the estimates presented in the financial memorandum to the bill were informed by comprehensive information provided by local authorities to date. Taking into account the work of the finance group, I have established that there is no evidence to suggest that the financial memorandum represents anything other than a robust assessment of the likely costs of the bill's provisions. By 2021-22, we will be providing £88 million, including £63 million for direct support to carers. That is a substantial commitment to carers across Scotland, as is the bill, which I commend to Parliament.

Carers (Scotland) Bill: Financial Resolution

17:00

The Presiding Officer (Tricia Marwick): The next item of business is consideration of motion S4M-12890, in the name of John Swinney, on the financial resolution to the Carers (Scotland) Bill.

Motion moved,

That the Parliament agrees to the general principles of the Carers (Scotland) Bill.—[Jamie Hepburn.]

The Presiding Officer: The question on the motion will be put at decision time.

Parliamentary Bureau Motions

Decision Time

17:00

The Presiding Officer (Tricia Marwick): The next item of business is consideration of two Parliamentary Bureau motions. I ask Joe FitzPatrick to move motions S4M-14731, on committee membership, and S4M-14732, on substitution on committees.

Motions moved,

That the Parliament agrees that—

George Adam be appointed to replace Clare Adamson as a member of the Local Government and Regeneration Committee:

Clare Adamson be appointed to replace James Dornan as a member of the Infrastructure and Capital Investment Committee; and

Fiona McLeod be appointed to replace George Adam as a member of the Standards, Procedures and Public Appointments Committee.

That the Parliament agrees that—

Graeme Dey be appointed to replace Michael Russell as the Scottish National Party substitute on the Justice Committee:

Michael Russell be appointed to replace Graeme Dey as the Scottish National Party substitute on the Health and Sport Committee;

James Dornan be appointed to replace Linda Fabiani as the Scottish National Party substitute on the Infrastructure and Capital Investment Committee; and

Linda Fabiani be appointed to replace James Dornan as the Scottish National Party substitute on the Delegated Powers and Law Reform Committee.—[Joe FitzPatrick.]

The Presiding Officer: The questions on the motions will be put at decision time.

17:01

The Presiding Officer (Tricia Marwick): There are four questions to be put as a result of today's business. The first question is, that motion S4M-14702, in the name of Jamie Hepburn, on the Carers (Scotland) Bill, be agreed to.

Motion agreed to,

That the Parliament agrees to the general principles of the Carers (Scotland) Bill.

The Presiding Officer: The next question is, that motion S4M-12890, in the name of John Swinney, on the financial resolution to the Carers (Scotland) Bill, be agreed to.

Motion agreed to,

That the Parliament, for the purposes of any Act of the Scottish Parliament resulting from the Carers (Scotland) Bill, agrees to any expenditure of a kind referred to in Rule 9.12.3(b) of the Parliament's Standing Orders arising in consequence of the Act.

The Presiding Officer: The next question is, that motion S4M-14731, in the name of Joe FitzPatrick, on committee membership, be agreed to

Motion agreed to,

That the Parliament agrees that—

George Adam be appointed to replace Clare Adamson as a member of the Local Government and Regeneration Committee:

Clare Adamson be appointed to replace James Dornan as a member of the Infrastructure and Capital Investment Committee; and

Fiona McLeod be appointed to replace George Adam as a member of the Standards, Procedures and Public Appointments Committee.

The Presiding Officer: The next question is, that motion S4M-14732, in the name of Joe FitzPatrick, on substitution on committees, be agreed to.

Motion agreed to,

That the Parliament agrees that—

Graeme Dey be appointed to replace Michael Russell as the Scottish National Party substitute on the Justice Committee;

Michael Russell be appointed to replace Graeme Dey as the Scottish National Party substitute on the Health and Sport Committee;

James Dornan be appointed to replace Linda Fabiani as the Scottish National Party substitute on the Infrastructure and Capital Investment Committee; and

Linda Fabiani be appointed to replace James Dornan as the Scottish National Party substitute on the Delegated Powers and Law Reform Committee.

Meeting closed at 17:01.

Correction

Angela Constance has identified an error in her contribution and provided the following correction.

The Cabinet Secretary for Education and Lifelong Learning (Angela Constance):

At column 3, paragraph 6—

Original text—

I am also pleased to report that, over our term of office, student support funds for Glasgow Kelvin College have gone up by 17 per cent.

Corrected text—

I am also pleased to report that, over our term of office, student support funds for Glasgow college region have gone up by 17 per cent.

This is the first subting of the Office Co.	this proceedings this process of the Occasion Destinance of Office of the Occasion of the Occa
inis is the final edition of the <i>Official Report</i> for and	this meeting. It is part of the Scottish Parliament <i>Official Report</i> archive has been sent for legal deposit.
Published in Edinburgh by the Scottish Parliamentary Corpora	rate Body
All documents are available on the Scottish Parliament website at:	For information on the Scottish Parliament contact Public Information on:
www.scottish.parliament.uk	Telephone: 0131 348 5000 Textphone: 0800 092 7100
Information on non-endorsed print suppliers Is available here:	Email: sp.info@scottish.parliament.uk
www.scottish.parliament.uk/documents	